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Our 2016–17 annual report is an initial
step towards integrated reporting (IR).
It is informed by the IR framework
developed by the International
Integrated Reporting Council (IIRC).
For the first time this year we have
summarised our value creation model
and described our key stakeholders
and partnerships in more detail. As in
previous years, we provide an overview
of strategic objectives, outline key
factors influencing performance, report
on relationships and resources and

describe our governance structure in
detail. In relation to the IIRC Framework
for integrated reporting, we confirm
that Executive Board and Council have
been involved in the development of
this Integrated Annual Report. Council
acknowledges its overall responsibility
for the accuracy and integrity of the
report’s contents.

We recognise that this report does
not yet fully comply with the IIRC
Framework and more work will be
carried out in the next 12 months to
develop our approach to reporting.
In particular, next year’s report will
be based on the new strategic vision
which we expect to be approved by
Senate and Council during the course
of the year. As part of this, we will
agree and report on a new set of Key
Performance Indicators.
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REVIEW OF
THE YEAR
04

OUR HIGHLIGHTS

August 2016
New marine research centre is launched in Blyth during
the North Sea Tall Ships Regatta. Dr Heather Sugden on
Cullercoats beach with a Common Sunstar starfish.

November 2016

December 2016

Graduation ceremony of first cohort of
International Business Management Masters’
students at Newcastle University London.

An Honorary degree is awarded to US poet Claudia Rankine.
Her collection ‘Citizen’ has made a major contribution to the
‘Black Lives Matter’ campaign in the US and beyond.

March 2017

April 2017

May 2017

Student spin-out NOVELTEA
is launched by co-founders
Lukas Passia (left) and
Vincent Efferoth (right).

First room pods arrive at Park View
Student Village development, which
will be Newcastle University’s largest
accommodation site.

Offering new hope to amputees, a
bionic hand is fitted with a camera that
takes a picture of the object in front of it,
assesses its shape and size and triggers
a series of movements in the hand.

September 2016

October 2016

Wolfson Childhood Cancer Research Centre is
opened by Bill Bryson, pictured with
Dr Natalia Martinez Soria.

Launch of the National Centre for Energy
Systems Integration which will be located in our
new Urban Sciences Building at Science Central.

January 2017

February 2017

MLK Day celebration at the House of
Commons. Voices of Virtue, perform at
the Freedom City 2017 launch event.

Employment Minister Damian Hinds (left) with the University’s
Professor Volker Pickert, who is overseeing a project to develop
highways that power electric vehicles in motion.

Dr Alison Graham,
School of Natural
and Environmental
Sciences (formerly
School of Biology)
‘She works tirelessly to
improve student experience
and satisfaction. She offers
support in both a teaching
and pastoral role.’

June 2017

July 2017

Dr Alison Graham, School of Natural and Environmental
Sciences, winner at the Students’ Union Teaching Excellence
Awards – part of the evidence basis for our TEF Gold Award.

Fine Art student Joy Labinjo, winner of a £20,000 graduate
art prize, with Mr Wee Teng Woon, sponsor of the prize.
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INTRODUCTION
FROM THE CHAIR
OF COUNCIL
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Paul Walker

Chair of Council
and Pro-Chancellor

I am delighted to have assumed
the role of Chair of Council and
Pro-Chancellor in summer 2017,
having served on Council since 2011.
This is the first year in which I have the
pleasure of introducing the Integrated
Annual Report. I would like to take the
opportunity to thank my predecessor,
Mark I’Anson and also the retiring
Vice-Chair of Council, Jacqui
Henderson. Their contribution and
commitment to Newcastle University
over many years has been immense
and has played a key role in the
success of this University.
Over the past year, changes in the
external environment have generated
significant turbulence for the higher
education sector, not least as a result
of the 2016 EU referendum vote.
While it is too early to know what
a final Brexit settlement might look
like, universities have an ongoing
responsibility to provide advice and
support for large numbers of EU staff
and students. At the same time, there
is a need to understand and highlight
the implications for research funding
and the attractiveness of the UK as a
destination of choice for international
students.
April 2017 saw the introduction of
new legislation that will change how
universities are funded and monitored
by government agencies. The Higher
Education and Research Act will pave
the way for a market-style regulator
that will oversee an opening-up of
the sector for new providers. The Act
will also introduce major changes
to the structure of the UK-wide
research system and will create a new
body – Research England – that will
oversee the next Research Excellence
Framework (REF) in 2021.
In common with many large and
complex organisations, universities
are increasingly impacted by the
widespread threat of cyber attacks. This
presents us with a strategic risk for our
day-to-day operations, but it is also
an area where Newcastle University is
recognised as one of the UK’s leading
centres of excellence. It is one of many
examples where we engage with
government and business to develop
the skills and research needed to tackle
societal challenges.

Finally, one of the biggest challenges
to affect the sustainability of the
higher education sector is our ability
to maintain a financially viable pension
provision. As we have seen over the last
12 months, the total scheme deficit of
the UK sector’s main pension scheme
has almost doubled to £17.5bn, based
on FRS 102 accounting rules. This
raises difficult questions about longterm affordability and the potential
exposure for individual institutions.
Amidst these external challenges,
Newcastle University continues to
thrive with another successful year.
The direction we set in Vision 2021:
A World-class Civic University provided
us with a robust strategy based on
five institutional objectives. Under the
measured leadership of the previous
Vice-Chancellor, Professor Chris
Brink, we accomplished the majority
of these objectives well ahead of the
2021 timeframe. It is a testament to
his leadership that we find ourselves
in a strong position to navigate future
challenges and to build on recent
achievements.
Following the retirement of Professor
Chris Brink, we welcomed Professor
Chris Day as our new Vice-Chancellor
in January 2017. For many of us, Chris
needed no introduction having worked
at the University for some 30 years.
Nevertheless, I’m delighted at the
smooth transition he made to his new
role and confident that he will harness
the ambition of our staff and students
across each of our campuses to deliver
academic excellence with a purpose.
Of our many achievements this year,
I am particularly pleased that the
University’s excellence in teaching
and learning was recognised with a
Gold Award in the Teaching Excellence
Framework (TEF). I am also delighted
at the progress that has been made
in establishing new facilities on
Science Central that will deepen our
relationship with the city and lead to
new opportunities to harness innovation
for economic growth.
Council’s responsibility is to oversee
good governance and management as
well as long-term financial sustainability.
Our priorities for 2017–18 will be
to oversee the development of the
University’s new vision and strategy;
provide oversight of the capital
investment programme; support
succession planning and build on the
University’s strong profile for equality
and diversity.
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INTRODUCTION
FROM THE
VICE-CHANCELLOR
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Looking back over the first nine months
of my Vice-Chancellorship, it seems fair
to say that I assumed the leadership
of Newcastle University during what –
politically speaking at least – has been
one of the most turbulent periods in the
history of UK higher education.
First, there was the triggering of
Article 50 on 29 March 2017, signalling
the beginning of Britain’s withdrawal
from the European Union. In the
run up to Article 50, the University
made a comprehensive submission
to the Education Select Committee
inquiry on the impact of Brexit on UK
higher education. The submission
set out our concerns as well as
our recommendations for what the
government’s priorities should be
during Brexit negotiations with regard
to students, staff and the research
environment.
Then, at the end of April, the Higher
Education and Research Act finally
completed its passage through
parliament. The Act has been designed
to bring about reforms that will create
a stronger, more competitive university
sector. It included confirmation of
the introduction of the Teaching
Excellence Framework (TEF), a
national assessment scheme that may
eventually be used to determine the
level of tuition fees an institution can
charge.
During the general election campaign
in June 2017, we saw higher education
– and particularly the issue of student
debt – become a political issue that
ultimately had a profound impact on
the outcome of the election.
Despite this uncertain backdrop, it is
pleasing to be able to report in this
document the progress the University
is making. Chief among our successes
during the year was the news that
we had achieved a Gold Award – the
best possible outcome – in the TEF.
Achieving a TEF Gold Award is an

affirmation of our commitment to
delivering the best possible educational
experience for our students. We were
one of only eight members of the
Russell Group of research-intensive
universities to be awarded TEF Gold
status. We have also had a good year
in the various world university rankings,
rising nine places to 105th in the Leiden
Ranking and 15 places to 175th in the
Times Higher Education Rankings.
We have enjoyed an exceptional year in
terms of attracting funding for research
and innovation. Awards of particular
note during the last 12 months
include: the £8m National Institute for
Health Research (NIHR) Innovation
Observatory which will apply state-ofthe-art data analytics to explore trends
in health innovation across drugs,
medical technologies, diagnostic tools
and healthcare services; a £10m award
from the Engineering and Physical
Sciences Research Council (EPSRC)
as part of the UK Collaboration for
Research in Infrastructure and Cities
– a network of 14 universities and
partner organisations working together
to address the challenges that face
the essential networks and services
our cities depend on; and the £20m
(£1.6m to Newcastle) Centre for Energy
Systems Integration (CESI) primarily
funded by the EPSRC and Siemens.
We are also the lead institution for the
£4m Arts and Humanities Research
Council Creative Fuse North East
project which is supporting academic
and creative industry collaborations
to boost this important sector. The
University won its 100th Horizon 2020
EU award which, to date, amounts
to approximately €44m in research
income.
September 2016 saw the opening
of the Wolfson Childhood Cancer
Research Centre. This important new
facility is the result of the successful
Future Fund campaign to raise £5.5m
to build new laboratories in the heart

Professor Chris Day

Vice-Chancellor
and President

of the University’s campus to advance
our understanding of how to treat
childhood cancers. In August 2017,
our entire School of Computing moved
to its new home in our £58m Urban
Sciences Building on Science Central.
Meanwhile another brand new facility,
Newcastle Research and Innovation
Institute in Singapore is expanding our
international research capability.
Throughout the year, we have been
commemorating the 50th anniversary
of Dr Martin Luther King Jr’s Honorary
degree with a city-wide programme
of events exploring the themes of war,
poverty and racism. We also joined
our city partners in celebrating the
news that Newcastle and Gateshead
have been chosen to host the Great
Exhibition of the North in 2018.
Most encouraging is the long-term
positive effect that we are making to
the North East region and beyond. An
independent report on the economic
impact of the University, published in
February, revealed that our activities
add £1.1 billion in Gross Value Added
to the national economy every year,
supporting – both directly and indirectly
– some 8,850 full-time equivalent jobs
in Newcastle.
Since being appointed as
Vice-Chancellor and President, I have
met with many colleagues from all
over the University to seek their views
on how we should develop our vision
and strategy in the medium and long
term. We have also commissioned
a perception survey among our
stakeholders. The results of this
widespread consultation will inform our
revised strategy, which I aim to have in
place early next year. The strategy will
ensure that we continue to improve
our performance so that we can bring
far-reaching benefits to our city and
region and beyond.
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THE UNIVERSITY
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The new Urban
Sciences Building
on Science Central,
home to the School
of Computing.

Overview
Newcastle University can trace its
origins to a School of Medicine and
Surgery, established in Newcastle in
1834, and to the College of Physical
Science, later Armstrong College,
founded in the city in 1871. These
two colleges formed one division of
the federal University of Durham, the
Durham Colleges forming the other
division. The Newcastle Colleges
merged to form King’s College in
1937 and, in 1963, when the federal
University was dissolved, King’s
College became the University of
Newcastle upon Tyne, latterly trading
as Newcastle University.
The University is a member of the
Russell Group, comprising the
UK’s leading research-intensive
universities. We have strong research
links with many European and
other international universities. Our
research spans a wide range of
activity with a strategy to address
major societal challenges.
The University has over 26,400
students from more than 140 different
countries. We offer undergraduate
degrees and postgraduate taught and
research degrees in over 50 subject
areas. We have a 20-hectare site at
the heart of Newcastle city centre
together with campuses in London,
Malaysia and Singapore. We are one
of the largest employers in the North
East of England, with approximately
5,975 staff.
We play a leading role in the
economic, social and cultural
development of the North East of
England and we collaborate with
a range of partners and strategic
initiatives, helping to extend the
University’s influence and reinforce
our ties with the city, region and
beyond. These include Newcastle
City Council, the NHS, and the
University of Durham via the Angel
Alliance.
The University’s key strategic
planning document is Vision 2021:
A World-class Civic University. The
University’s mission is:

• to be a world-class researchintensive university

• to deliver teaching and facilitate
learning of the highest quality

• to play a leading role in the

economic, social and cultural
development of the North East
of England

The five key strategic objectives are
to achieve and maintain the following:

• top 20 in the UK for research
• top 20 in the UK for student
satisfaction

• focus on three societal challenge
themes: ageing; social renewal;
sustainability

• a significant international, national

and regional profile and reputation

• financial and environmental
sustainability

During 2016–17 we started to update
our vision and strategy through a
series of engagement events with staff,
students and external partners. The
University intends to launch its new
strategic planning document in early
2018.
We have three core academic
functions:

• research and innovation
• learning, teaching and the student
experience

• engagement
Strategic leadership of each of these
is provided, on a University-wide
basis, by three Pro-Vice-Chancellors
(PVCs). In May 2017, the University
appointed a new PVC for Research
Strategy and Resources meaning
that from September 2017, the
portfolio for Innovation is held
separately, and the University has
four functional PVCs.
Delivery of the core academic
functions occurs in our three faculties,
each led and managed by a PVC:

• Faculty of Humanities and Social
Sciences

• Faculty of Medical Sciences
• Faculty of Science, Agriculture
and Engineering

Each faculty consists of a number
of academic units, typically schools
or research institutes, each led
and managed by a head. The
core academic functions and linemanagement structures combine
to form the academic map of the
University in which we envisage the
faculties as vertical columns, with
the core functions as cross-cutting
institutional activities. Interdisciplinary
and cross-disciplinary activities
are co-ordinated and supported by
the functional PVCs. The academic
enterprise is supported by a number
of corporate activities within the
professional services, led and
managed by the Registrar.
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Our principal
stakeholders
An organisation as diverse as the
University naturally works with a wide
range of stakeholders. The principal
stakeholders are listed here together
with a summary of how we seek to
engage with them.

Students
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We have more than 26,400 students
from more than 140 countries,
spread across four campuses. They
are in many ways the raison d’être
of the University. Their activity and
success is described in more detail
on pages 24 and 25. In 2016–17,
they contributed almost 53% of the
University’s total income through
tuition fees and accommodation
payments, either directly or via the
Student Loans Company or sponsors.
They contributed some £220m Gross
Value Added (GVA) to the regional
economy.
The student voice and student
engagement are important
features of our governance and
strategic planning processes. As
active members of the University
community, students trained by
Newcastle University Students’ Union
contribute through our representation
system as course representatives
and student chairs of staff–student
committees. Council, Senate, Court
and many key University committees
and groups include student members.

Alumni

We have more than 204,000 alumni
in 183 countries across the world. In
2016–17, our NU Advancement team
organised more than 60 events ranging
from informal reunions to the annual
Convocation weekend in Newcastle.
We produce an annual magazine
Arches for our graduate community
which features the latest news from
campus and our graduates around the
world. Alma Matters is a supplementary
publication produced for graduates
and friends of the University who are
based in North America.
Launched in 2016, the NCL
Professional Network enables our
alumni to enhance their portfolio
of contacts, meet fellow alumni
and friends working in related
professions, and hear from leading
speakers in their sector. The
network was launched around
four sectors: finance, banking and
investment; marketing, media and

journalism; creative industries; and
entrepreneurship and enterprise.

Staff

Almost 6,000 staff (5,572 full-time
equivalent) are drawn from 90
countries, including some 600 from
the European Union, and are critical
to our success. Their activities and
successes are described in more
detail on page 32.
There are formal opportunities for staff
to be represented in the University’s
governance process through elected
membership of Council and Senate
and through engagement with our three
recognised trade unions: UCU, Unison
and Unite. There is also an extensive
internal communications programme,
the results of which are measured by a
biennial employee engagement survey.

HEFCE

The Higher Education Funding
Council for England (HEFCE) has a
multifaceted relationship with the
University as a principal funder, as
our regulator and as a friend and
supporter of the sector. The Higher
Education and Research Act 2017
provides for HEFCE to be replaced
on 1 April 2018 by a new Office for
Students, which will merge much of
HEFCE’s existing activity with the
Office for Fair Access (OFFA).
We meet regularly with HEFCE officers
to review academic and financial
progress and key risks and there are
regular and ad hoc formal reporting
requirements in their role as regulator.

The local community

As one of the largest employers
in the region, we recognise our
responsibility to engage with the local
community and business. We have
a formal partnership with Newcastle
City Council through the Newcastle
Science City partnership and we
work with Northumbria University
and our respective student unions to
promote good relations between our
students and the local community.
We are members of the CBI and the
North East Chamber of Commerce
and have a regular programme of
engagement with businesses and
voluntary organisations in the region.
We are particularly proud of our
partnerships with local cultural
organisations including Seven Stories,
Northern Stage and Sage Gateshead.
We have a wide programme of
engagement with local schools and

colleges and accredit foundation
courses taught by Northumberland
College. The Great North Museum:
Hancock attracts more than half a
million visitors every year.

close and
‘The
supportive

environment in
our school has
really enabled
us to thrive.

The University has twice-yearly
meetings of Court, which includes over
30 lay members representing business,
politics, local government and the
voluntary and community sectors.

‘

Francesca,
BSc Honours in Marine Zoology

Research funders

More than 740 funders, drawn from
government, the third sector and the
private sector, contributed more than
£107.6m of research income to the
University in 2016–17. Many of these
funders have formal programmes of
engagement and assurance with the
University as well as a wide range of
informal relationships.
The Vice-Chancellor is a member of
the Medical Research Council and
several members of staff contribute
to the governance and planning
mechanisms of some of our funders.
The Higher Education and Research
Act 2017 provides for the seven UK
research councils to merge with
Innovate UK and part of HEFCE on
1 April 2018 to create UK Research
and Innovation.

Other universities

It is in the nature of the higher
education sector that we compete
and collaborate at the same time. Our
principal competitors are researchintensive universities in the UK and,
to a lesser extent, other universities
in the North East. We work closely
with other universities in the region to
promote widening access to higher
education through the National
Collaborative Outreach Programme
(which we lead in the North East)
and other initiatives. We also work
with universities in the UK, Europe
and across the world to further our
research interests.

Professor Chris Day and Pat Ritchie, Chief Executive of
Newcastle City Council, on site at Science Central.

We have strategic partnerships
with several universities including
Groningen in the Netherlands and
Monash in Australia. We are members
of Universities UK, the Russell Group
(comprising the 24 leading researchintensive universities) and the N8
research partnership, as well as
numerous sector-wide bodies that
work to promote shared services and
common understanding. We have a
particularly close relationship with
Durham University through the Angel
Alliance.
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Charity Status
and Public Benefit
Statement
For the year ended
31 July 2017
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In developing and overseeing the
University’s strategy and activities,
Council has had due regard to the
Charity Commission’s guidance on
public benefit. It is also aware that,
because the University is charging high
fees, it must make provision for those
from lower income backgrounds to
have the opportunity to benefit from
the services provided. The principal
beneficiaries of the University’s services
are our students and the public at large.
The Higher Education Funding
Council for England (HEFCE) is the
principal regulator for most English
higher education institutions under the
Charities Act 2011 and is the regulator
for this University.

Our statutes define the object of the
University as ‘for the public benefit,
to advance education, learning and
research’.
Public benefit is embedded in our
strategic aims and objectives set out
in Vision 2021: A World-class Civic
University. The University takes seriously
its commitment to ensure that it satisfies
the Charity Commission’s public benefit
test that there be identifiable benefits
and that the opportunity to benefit
must not be unreasonably restricted.
We have a range of schemes to
encourage participation in our academic
programmes by students from underrepresented socioeconomic groups and
those from low income households.
In 2016–17 the University provided
£2.6m in means-tested scholarships
to support 1,396 new undergraduate
entrants who might otherwise have
been unable to afford the costs of
going to university. This constituted
26.5% of our 5,271 full-time UK and EU

undergraduate entrants in 2016. We also
paid a further £5.4m to support 2,830
undergraduates continuing their studies.
The 2016–17 UK and EU undergraduate
financial support of £8.0m for a total of
4,226 students represents an increase
of £0.8m compared to 2015–16.
We have committed more than £40m
through our Access Agreement to
student financial support over the next
five years. We supported 58 mostly
full-time taught postgraduates from
widening participation backgrounds
with scholarships of up to £5,000,
costing £283, 000 in total, to
supplement the Postgraduate
Masters’ Loans now available from
the Student Loans Company.
We alert all prospective and current
students to the financial support
opportunities, through our website,
brochures, talks, workshops, mail
shots, student newspaper, e-mail,
social media, and plasma screen
reminders throughout the year.

Postgraduate Open Day.

During 2016–17 we awarded more
than 8,500 undergraduate and
postgraduate degrees.
We are the largest research university
in the North East of England. During
the calendar year 2016 our academic
staff published 5,247 research
articles, books, book chapters and
conference proceedings, an increase
from 5,161 in 2015. Our total research
income in 2016–17 was £107.6m.
The Charities (Protection and Social
Investment) Act (2016) requires
charities to state the approach taken
in fundraising. The University seeks,
stewards and accepts benefactions
in support of its charitable objective.
It does so under the leadership of
the Director of Advancement and it
does not use external professional
fundraisers or commercial agents to
undertake these activities.

In its fundraising activities it follows the
Principles of Practice for Fundraising
Professionals at Educational
Institutions approved by the Council
for Advancement and Support of
Education’s Board of Trustees in July
2014. This sets out ethical principles of
personal integrity, confidentiality and
public trust. The University complied
with these standards in 2016–17.
We did receive one comment that
fundraising for students with autism
was not appropriate since the individual
concerned believed this should be
funded from other University resources.
Our approach protects vulnerable
people and other members of the
public from inappropriate fundraising
behaviour as specified in the Act.
To support the charitable work of
the University, we received £5.2m in
philanthropic donations during
2016–17. We receive funding from a
wide range of benefactors including
many of our alumni and we are
grateful for their support.

The University expects that useful
knowledge acquired through research
will be disseminated to the public
and others able to benefit from such
research. The University normally
expects that any private (noncharitable) benefit will be legitimately
incidental to the achievement of the
University’s charitable aims for public
benefit. The terms and conditions of
all externally funded research activity
are assessed prior to acceptance in
terms of the public benefit test for
charitable purpose.
More information on the work of the
University and the way it fulfils its
charitable purpose is included in
this report and on our website
www.ncl.ac.uk.
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EXCELLENCE
WITH A PURPOSE:
16

OUR STRATEGY AND
VALUE CREATION MODEL

Inputs

How we create value

Values

We teach over 26,400 students from more than 140 countries at our four
campuses. Our research portfolio exceeds £107m per annum and spans a
wide range of activity with a strategy to address major societal challenges.
And we play a leading role in the economic, social and cultural development
of the city with influence that extends across the region and beyond.

Our shared values – including diversity,
inclusivity and social responsibility –
underpin everything we do

People

Attracting and developing the best
talent (staff and students) gives us a
competitive advantage

World-class
research-intensive
university

Intellectual Assets

Our brand and IP empower us and
provide a solid base on which we
create value

Networks and Partnerships

Our networks in the UK and overseas –
including our alumni base – are key to
the delivery of our strategy

Excellence
with a
Purpose

Physical and Natural Resources
Our estate and IT infrastructure
facilitate our research, education and
engagement

Financial

Our operations are cash generative and
we have access to competitively priced
finance from an EIB loan

Leading
Leadingrole
rolein
in economic,
economic,
social
social
and
and
cultural
cultural of
development
development
the
North East

As part of our Integrated Annual Report, we show how we use
our resources to create and sustain value for our numerous
stakeholders. Examples within the report demonstrate how we
allocate resources, manage risks and develop opportunities
through our education, research and engagement.

Teaching and
learning of the
highest quality
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Outputs

The value shared

Student Satisfaction

We create value which is reinvested in the University and shared with
stakeholders for a sustainable future

Excellent scores in student satisfaction
surveys across all disciplines

Graduate Destinations

High rates of graduate employment in
professional jobs or further study

Staff Engagement

Excellent results in our staff
engagement survey

Research Outputs

High proportion of research outputs
rated world-leading or internationally
excellent

Reputation

Enhanced global reputation for
education and research

Balance Sheet

Strong cash balance for financial
sustainability

Local Community

We develop over £800m pa in GVA contribution to the Northern regions and
work with local communities to attract jobs and investment to the region

Students

We reinvest in our teaching and learning facilities for current and future
generations of students

Alumni

As we support graduates into professional employment or further study, we
create and sustain a global network of professional alumni

Staff

We develop and reward our staff and seek to grow our academic base by
reinvesting in staff facilities and new appointments

Funders and Regulators

We work with research funders and government agencies to share the value
we create and to develop new opportunities to address societal challenges

Partner Organisations

We nurture and develop close partnerships with employers and other
universities to leverage additional value

Our Strategy and Value Creation Model is assured by effective governance
Vision 2021: A World-class Civic University has been our strategy since 2008. We plan to present a new vision to
Council in early 2018 that will take account of the changing context for higher education institutions and will set
our priorities for the years ahead.
Read more:

Corporate Governance, page 44

		

Financial Review, page 38

		

Independent Auditor’s Report to Council, page 50

STRATEGIC REVIEW
RESEARCH
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Priorities

• Perform high-quality research that is
internationally recognised

• Provide a high-quality environment
for students and staff

• Develop an innovation culture

embedded throughout the University

• Further develop our activities in

relation to corporate engagement

• Maximise / diversify research funding
including opportunities via the Global
Challenges Research Fund and
Industrial Strategy Challenge Fund

• Raise the profile of our research

Professor Andrew Husband is the Head of
the newly created School of Pharmacy, which
takes in the first students in September 2017.

outputs

• Continue preparations for the
next REF

Measuring success
Research income per academic FTE (£k):
Target ≥ Russell Group Median

PhDs graduated per academic FTE:
Target ≥ Russell Group Median

Newcastle
Russell Group Median

Newcastle
Russell Group Median

47

0.25

46
0.20

45
44

0.15

43
42

0.10

41
40

0.05

39
38

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

11-12

16-17

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

0.00

OVERALL ASSESSMENT

SATISFACTORY
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World citation impact
(using a normalised measure)

Risks

• Failure to continue to publish

Newcastle
Russell Group Median

high-quality research outputs

2.15

• Failure to continue to obtain new

2.05

research grants and contracts

• Failure to recover sufficient margin

1.95

on our research income to cover our
research support costs

1.85

• Failure to secure and exploit

1.75

intellectual property assets

1.65
1.55
1.45
1.35
2016

2015

2014

2013

2012

Progress during
the past year
Research income decreased by 2%
from £110.2m in 2015–16 to £107.6m
in 2016–17. Key research income
streams are illustrated below.
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Research Councils

29%

UK charities

24%

UK government and NHS

21%

EU government

12%

UK industry

4%

EU other

2%

Other overseas

6%

Other

2%

Income decreased slightly from the
majority of major funders. Income from
Research Councils (from £32.6m to
£31.6m), UK government and health
authorities (from £24.9m to £22.4m),
EU government (from £14.2m to
£12.6m) and UK industry (from £4.9m
to £4.8m). The notable exception was
an increase in research income via UK
charities (from £24.3m to £26.2m).
Whilst income has decreased, there
was a significant increase in overall
award value from £101.8m in 2015–16
to £127.6m in 2016–17 with increases
across the majority of funders. Award
value increased from Research
Councils (from £35.7m to £45.6m), EU
government (from £10.7m to £12.3m),
UK industry (from £3.1m to £5.8m)
and most significantly UK government
and health authorities (from £16.2m to
£41.4m).

Awards of particular note during
the last 12 months include the £8m
NIHR Innovation Observatory which
will apply state-of-the-art data
analytics to explore trends in health
innovation across drugs, medical
technologies, diagnostic tools and
healthcare services; a £10m award
from the EPSRC as part of the
UK Collaboration for Research in
Infrastructure and Cities (UKCRIC), a
network of 14 universities and partner
organisations working together to
address the challenges that face
the essential networks and services
our cities depend on; and the £20m
(£1.6m to Newcastle) Centre for
Energy Systems Integration (CESI)
primarily funded by the EPSRC and
Siemens.

Newcastle University’s battery
storage systems installed at the
Integrated Transport Electricity
Gas Research Laboratory
(InTEGReL) are used by the
National Centre for Energy
Systems Integration researchers
to investigate the mutually
beneficial interactions between
gas and electricity networks.

Our innovation culture continues to
develop. In the past year, a cancer
drug developed and patented by
scientists at the University has been
approved for use in the USA by the
Food and Drug Administration (FDA).
During the year, we established
new companies to exploit new
technologies, to improve the viability
of cells while being transported
around research centres and hospitals,
developed in our Institute of Genetic
Medicine; and electric motor and
generator technology was developed
in our Centre for Advanced Electrical
Drives. We have streamlined our
spin-out company approval process
and we are working closely with
commercial partners to maximise
our response to the opportunities
opening up via the Industrial
Strategy Challenge Fund.
Looking ahead there is a continued
need to focus upon research income;
although the increase in awards during
2016–17 is encouraging, this item
will remain high on the agenda of the
University Research Committee during
2017–18.
Consultations via HEFCE continue in
relation to the precise form of the next
REF exercise. Formal notification in
this regard is not now expected until
early 2018.

Caption here
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STRATEGIC REVIEW
LEARNING, TEACHING
AND STUDENT EXPERIENCE

We aim to deliver research-informed
teaching and facilitate applied learning
of the highest standard and deliver a
fully rounded, enjoyable and formative
student experience. Key priorities are to:

• continue to recruit and retain

high-quality undergraduate and
postgraduate students within a
competitive market context

• maximise opportunities for the

successful recruitment, retention
and integration of high-quality
international students

Measuring success
National Student Survey – Overall satisfaction
92%

• continue to seek and promote

88%
86%
84%
82%
80%

95%
93%

90%
89%
88%
87%

2016

2015

2014

2013

85%

2012

of the UK’s departure from the
European Union

91%

2011

• plan effectively for the implications

92%

86%

• further develop our physical estate
and technological capability to
support learning, teaching and
student growth aspirations

Newcastle
UK ISB

94%
% satisfied overall

ensure delivery of a comparable
‘Newcastle University Student
Experience’ in transnational,
off-campus, distance or online
programmes

16-17

•

strategies to enhance the
employability of our graduates

15-16

• further develop and implement

14-15

International Student Barometer – Overall satisfaction

• review and develop support for

students with disabilities or mental
health concerns

13-14

• achieve managed growth in student

12-13

11-12

diversity in our student population
numbers and address associated
capacity and student support
implications

Newcastle
Sector

90%
% satisfied overall

Priorities

Postgraduate Research (PRES) and
Taught (PTES) Experience Surveys
NB Prior to 2017 these surveys were not carried out every year

87%
% satisfied overall
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86%

PRES
PTES

85%
84%
83%
82%
81%
2017

2016

2015

2014

2013

OVERALL ASSESSMENT

SATISFACTORY
Dr Burak Cerik,
NUIS (Singapore)
‘He displays selflessness, dedication,
passion and commitment in his
teaching.’

Risks

• Failure to meet home and

international recruitment targets

• Failure to deliver a high-quality
student experience

• Failure to maintain teaching quality
and standards

• Failure to achieve widening

participation benchmarks and
Access Agreement milestones

Progress during
the past year

Dr Huai Sengh Loh,
NUMed (Malaysia)
‘He is passionate about teaching. His
energy and vibrancy in the classroom
is highly motivating.’

Dr Katarina Novakovic, School of Chemical
Engineering and Advanced Materials
‘She’s had a profound impact on my experience
personally, and on the experience of my colleagues.’

The University achieved the best
possible outcome – a Gold Award – in
the government’s Teaching Excellence
Framework (TEF). Based on the
evidence available, the TEF panel
judged that we deliver consistently
outstanding teaching, learning and
outcomes for our undergraduate
students, of the highest quality found
in the UK. We were one of only eight
Russell Group universities to achieve
a Gold Award. We believe that the
award of TEF Gold status is a strong
endorsement of the University’s long
tradition of providing excellent teaching
which supports exceptional outcomes
for our students.
In reaching its decision, the TEF
panel cited compelling evidence
of the University’s commitment to
research-led teaching; the provision
of outstanding resources and the
exceptional levels of staff and peer
support offered to all groups of
students that helps them to achieve the
best possible outcomes. The panel also
recognised our institutional culture of
monitoring, promoting and rewarding
excellent teaching. They commended
our commitment to enhancing
students’ employability, highlighting the
University’s Graduate Skills Framework
that identifies the critical skills and
attributes employers are seeking from
graduates and which is embedded into
every undergraduate module.
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Percentage of students who agree
or strongly agree to satisfaction in:
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Overall satisfaction
The teaching on my course
Learning opportunities
Assessment and feedback
Academic support
Organisation and management
Learning resources
Learning community
Student voice
Personal development

Two other major developments during
2016–17 were the transfer of the
School of Medicine, Pharmacy and
Health (SMPH) from Durham University
to Newcastle and the agreement of a
new five-year collaborative relationship
with the Singapore Institute of
Technology (SIT).
The definitive agreement for the
SMPH transfer was signed on
27 February 2017 with the relevant staff
transferring to Newcastle employment
on 1 August 2017, following an
extensive, jointly managed, transition
project. All four years of the Pharmacy
undergraduate programme are being
taught in refurbished space in the King
George VI Building from September
2017 although students admitted
prior to 2017 will receive a Durham
University General Pharmaceutical
Council (GPhC)-accredited degree.
We are working with the GPhC to
progress accreditation arrangements
for the relocated provision. The firstyear MB BS programme in Newcastle
has been expanded to include student
numbers previously taught at Durham’s
Stockton campus but second-year
Durham students will be taught in
Stockton in 2017–18 prior to starting
their clinical studies.
The new Collaboration Agreement with
SIT was signed on 19 October 2016.
The existing Newcastle University
degree programmes will cease after
graduation of the September 2016
intake in summer 2018. These will be
replaced by new joint degrees awarded
by Newcastle and SIT with the first
intake in September 2017. Food and
Human Nutrition will not migrate to the
new structure and teaching activity in
this area will cease in summer 2018.

Newcastle
2016
2017
90%
90%
n/a
73%
86%
87%
91%
n/a
n/a
83%

88%
85%
83%
71%
82%
80%
90%
80%
68%
n/a

Sector
2017
84%
85%
84%
73%
80%
76%
87%
79%
69%
n/a

Substantial changes, including three
new sections – ‘Learning opportunities’,
‘Learning community’, and ‘Student
voice’ – were introduced to the National
Student Survey (NSS) questionnaire
in 2017, the first major changes since
the survey was introduced in 2005. In
light of this, it is not valid to compare
the 2017 responses at question level
with those in previous years. The NSS
overall response rate was in line with
that for previous years at 68%.
The University’s overall satisfaction –
the number of respondents agreeing
with the statement ‘Overall, I am
satisfied with the quality of the course’
– was 88% in 2017, a decline of 2%
from the 90% Newcastle achieved in
2016. The sector as a whole declined
by 1%, from 85% to 84%. Our overall
score placed us joint 15th amongst full
service universities, down from joint
12th in 2016. Of the 47 subject areas,
22 had overall satisfaction rates of 90%
or above, compared to 30 out of 48
subjects having satisfaction of 90%
and above in 2016.
A series of actions to address issues
raised by the results, particularly
those relating to ‘Student voice’, and
‘Assessment and feedback’, have been
agreed by Executive Board and Senate.
In contrast, all the other key student
surveys showed year-on-year
improvements. The 2016 International
Student Barometer (ISB) survey
recorded overall satisfaction of 94%,
compared to 93% in the previous year
and placing us 5th in the UK out of 42
participating HEIs. The Postgraduate
Taught Experience Survey (PTES)
recorded overall satisfaction of 85%,
compared to 84% in the previous
year and the Postgraduate Research
Experience Survey (PRES) recorded
overall satisfaction of 85%, compared
to 83% in the previous survey.

The University’s focus on student
employability was a key contributor
to our TEF Gold rating and Newcastle
received the Best University
Employability Strategy award at the
2017 National Graduate Recruitment
Awards, organised by Target Jobs.
In terms of early career outcomes,
the University’s ‘Graduate Prospects’
rating, based on the percentage
of our UK, full-time undergraduate
students in graduate-level outcomes
six months after graduating, fell from
82.6% to 80.7%. This partly reflects
some changes in the makeup of our
graduating population, in particular
a small reduction in the number of
medicine and dentistry graduates and,
although disappointing, is our second
best outcome in the last five years. This
rating also places us in the top 20% of
all universities for the percentage of our
graduates in professional or managerial
employment, or postgraduate study.
Conversely, our 2016 Employability
Indicator, which reports on the
percentage of our graduates in any
level of work or study six months after
graduating, increased from 94.1%
to 94.6%, bringing us closer to our
benchmark of 95%. This in part reflects
work carried out with students from
widening participation backgrounds
through our Career Insights
Programme, aimed at improving
personal networks and raising career
expectations.
Through our Student Employability and
Enterprise Action Plan we continue to
focus on preparing our students for
their futures whether in employment,
self-employment or postgraduate study.
This includes our new placement year
offer, available to all undergraduate
students, extensive support for
those considering starting their own
businesses, and further enhancement

Newcastle hosted the
prestigious International
Sports Science and
Sports Medicine
Conference this year.
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of our ncl+ award scheme. In the last
year, 523 students completed our
ncl+ award from all four campuses, an
increase of 98% on the previous year,
with a further 51 students completing
advanced awards developed with
employers. We also celebrated the
achievements of 75 students through
the Students’ Union Celebrating
Success Awards and our Pride of
Newcastle University Awards Dinner.

Sport continued as a vital element in
the student experience at Newcastle
with almost 8,500 students taking
out Sports Centre membership. In
performance sport, Team Newcastle
was ranked 10th in British Universities
and Colleges Sport (BUCS) with 13
teams competing in BUCS Premier
Leagues. Several teams compete in
National Leagues with the Basketball
Men’s 1st team gaining promotion to

the English Basketball League
Division 1 and the Boat Club winning
The Prince Albert Challenge Cup at
Henley Royal Regatta. On campus,
over 4,000 students in 326 teams took
part in the 11-sport Intra Mural Sports
programme and made over 25,000
exercise class visits. Work to develop
our sports facilities continues with
planning permission granted for the
Sports Centre extension.

STRATEGIC REVIEW

OVERALL ASSESSMENT

MEDIUM RISK

EXTERNAL PROFILE

Priorities

• Develop a clear and consistent
corporate narrative

• Position Newcastle as a recognised

leader in the social, cultural and
economic development of North East
England

• Build a positive media profile
regionally, nationally and
internationally

• Increase the use of the website and

social media in strategic positioning

• Support the positioning of Newcastle
as a City of Science

• Develop and maintain good relations
with stakeholders, alumni and the
wider public

Measuring success
Main UK League Tables

2014

2015

2016

2017

Good University Guide

22

23

22

26

Complete University Guide

20

26

25

23

Guardian University Guide

28

29

37

30

2014

2015

2016

2017

Leiden Ranking

121

104

114

105

QS World University Rankings

127

162

168

161

Times Higher Education Rankings

202

196

190

175

World University Ranking Tables

Media mentions 2016-17
16,000
Quarterly media mentions
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Newcastle
Comparator Group Average

14,000
12,000
10,000
8,000
6,000
4,000
2,000
0

international profile

• Failure to establish effective

engagement with our alumni

• Failure to maintain effective

relationships with key external
stakeholders

• Failure to develop a clear and

consistent corporate narrative

May-Jul

• Failure to develop a significant

Feb-Apr

Nov-Jan

Aug-Oct

Risks

Artist’s impression of the building,
due to open in 2020, that will be
occupied by the National Innovation
Centre for Ageing and National
Innovation Centre for Data.
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Progress in
the year
Improving our reputation scores in the
QS and THE World Rankings was the
major focus in the past year and will
continue throughout 2017–18. The
good news is that progress is being
made with the number of votes we
receive in both rankings increasing.
However, the overall assessment
remains ‘Medium Risk’ due to the
disparity between the ‘hard metrics’
of citations, industry income etc
reflected in the Leiden Ranking
and our reputation scores.
A Rankings and Reputation Working
Group and promotional drive across
schools and faculties during 2016–17
raised awareness of the importance
of the University’s reputation in
international league tables and where
individual academics can contribute.

The new Vice-Chancellor and President
wants to build on this by developing a
stronger brand for Newcastle University
which emphasises our strengths such
as the National Innovation Centres
and our work on cities. At the same
time, we have undertaken a review
of marketing to bring extra focus on
corporate marketing which will support
activities including: research marketing,
fundraising, services for business and
staff recruitment campaigns.
Over the past 10 years, the University
has invested in developing the ‘worldclass civic university’ brand and in
promoting the three societal challenge
themes that embody this brand. As part
of the Vice-Chancellor’s development
of a new strategy and vision, we
commissioned an independent
reputation survey to understand what
our various audiences consider to be
our strengths and unique selling points.

Due to complete in October 2017,
this survey will inform the creation
of a distinctive brand for Newcastle
University which will include a clear
narrative that can be used across all
our marketing and communications.
Freedom City 2017 is an important part
of the Newcastle University story and
we have made this a major focus of our
communications efforts in 2016–17.
This has included high-profile events in
Westminster and other venues, public
lectures, significant media coverage
and a dedicated website. Significant
effort has also been made in attracting
high-profile Honorary degree recipients
to coincide with the 50th Anniversary of
Dr Martin Luther King Jr being awarded
an Honorary degree from Newcastle
University in 1967.
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In February 2017, we launched an
independent assessment of the
economic impact of Newcastle
University on the city, region and UK.
The report was endorsed by Newcastle
City Council and provided a way
of reinforcing our role as an anchor
institution in the city. Media coverage
and a social media campaign also
supported the report’s publication and
it was used by UUK as part of its efforts
to promote the value of international
students.
The Brexit result has provided a
number of communications challenges
during the year. Chief among them was
communications to over 600 staff from
EU countries. A European Steering
Group chaired by the Deputy ViceChancellor included a communications
workstream which has led staff
information sessions, a dedicated
website and a campaign to promote
Newcastle as a welcoming place for
international staff and students. The
group led a submission to the Higher
Education Select Committee on the
impact of Brexit on universities. This
was followed up by an oral inquiry
in Newcastle in March 2017 where
the Deputy Vice-Chancellor provided
evidence and this appeared in the
committee’s final report published in
April 2017.
The University continues to enjoy a high
media profile against its competitor
universities. In January 2017 we even
achieved a higher media profile than
MIT. Major stories included: Misophonia
– why certain sounds annoy some
people; and The discovery of ancient
pollution at the deepest depths of the
ocean.
We are now fortunate to have a large
cadre of academics that will be regular
contributors to news programmes and
documentaries and react positively
to media opportunities. This was
particularly so during the run up to
Brexit and its aftermath, where our
academics provided regular expert
commentary.
The Science Central site is a huge
asset and presents a major opportunity
to promote the Newcastle University
brand. During 2017 we will be working
with Newcastle City Council and
Legal & General to launch a major
marketing and PR campaign for
the site. We will hire a marketing/
advertising firm to develop the
campaign which will focus on the
people behind the science, technology
and business on Science Central.

Societal challenge
themes

allow researchers to create a ‘Centre
of Excellence’ focusing on key priority
areas within dementia care research.

Societal challenge themes provided
a focus for much of our external
communications and profile-raising
during 2016–17. Looking to the future,
our new vision and strategy will look to
build on this progress by refreshing the
University’s approach to grand societal
challenges.

Furthermore, widespread confidence
in our ageing work has led to the
creation of the National Innovation
Centre for Ageing. This will bring worldleading scientists together to work
with industry, the NHS and the public
to develop, test and bring to market
products that promote good health and
wellbeing as we age.

Ageing
‘Living better for longer’ is the
Newcastle University Institute for
Ageing’s response to the societal
challenge of ageing, as its research not
only focuses on helping people remain
healthy and independent for as long
as possible, but also facilitates healthy
ageing across the life course.
With one in three babies born now
predicted by the Office for National
Statistics to live until 100, Newcastle
University’s globally renowned
ageing research has never been
more important and the institute is
among only a handful in the world to
combine clinical sciences of ageing
with interdisciplinary research and
innovation.
Investment in both the NIHR Newcastle
Biomedical Research Centre and the
National Innovation Centre for Ageing
represents more than £56m in ageing
research and innovation at Newcastle
University, which is testament to our
outstanding work carried out in this
specialist field.
In September 2016, Newcastle
University and Newcastle upon Tyne
Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
received more than £16m to host the
NIHR Newcastle Biomedical Research
Centre. This puts us at the forefront
of research into ageing and long-term
conditions to advance diagnosis,
treatment and prevention of ageing
syndromes.
In July 2017, the Department of
Health highlighted its commitment
to our ageing science by awarding
£2m for research into dementia care
and prevention on a global scale.
This funding from the NIHR aims to
improve the health of people in low and
middle-income countries worldwide.
The Alzheimer’s Society this year also
committed £1.7m to the University as
part of its biggest single investment in
dementia care research. This record
grant, awarded over five years, will

Social renewal
The Newcastle Institute for Social
Renewal’s goal is to contribute to the
understanding and practice of social
renewal – how to thrive during turbulent
times. This theme has resonated even
more strongly as a societal challenge
over the past two years, following the
UK’s vote to leave the European Union
and the US presidential election. These
two momentous decisions are seen by
many as symptoms of dissatisfaction
– with globalisation and inequality,
with elites and experts, and with an
emerging democratic deficit and sense
of powerlessness. For Social Renewal,
this and other global changes has
meant focusing on three cross-cutting
priorities for 2017–18: Thriving Through
and After Brexit, Social Renewal in
the North East, and New Pathways
to Social Renewal – alternatives to
neoliberalism.
Social Renewal projects over the past
12 months have included a series of
post-Brexit debates in Newcastle and
London, and work with our partner
Great North Museum to showcase
work on the Gertrude Bell archives
and the Martin Luther King civil rights
legacy as part of the Freedom City
2017 events, much of which has a
focus on involving young people in
research.
The Newcastle City Futures model
pioneered in the Institute is now gaining
national and international recognition;
it has been the recipient of major
Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI)
Research Awards and has been cited in
government reports. The work is being
disseminated to 14 partners within the
European Horizon 2020 Accomplish
project and by leading a Future of
Cities International Research Network
with researcher and policy makers in
Groningen, Hong Kong and Sydney.

Sustainability
The Newcastle Institute for Sustainability
is a catalyst for excellent interdisciplinary
research across Newcastle University.
In the year, the Institute has progressed
several research projects that are
helping to achieve the United Nation’s
Sustainable Development Goals
(SDGs). They include collaborations
with industry, the public sector and
policy makers, and demonstrate how
our world-class research is making a
positive impact worldwide.
We are leading the development
of strategies that address flood
management, antibiotic resistance
and climate change adaptation;

decarbonising energy in the built
environment; working at the interface
between science and policy for
biodiversity; and measuring progress
towards the SDGs.
A focus for both the engagement
with partners and targeting our work
towards global grand challenges
was our 2016 Newcastle Institute
for Sustainability Annual Conference
in London: ‘Sustainable Futures:
Research, Policy and Practice’. The
conference brought together experts in
policy, academia, industry, government
and non-governmental organisations,
to understand how academic research
can inform policy for the SDGs. The
conference was a major success,

providing insights into why academics
should become involved with the
United Nations and others working
towards the SDGs.
Among the projects developed over
the last 12 months are: Metro Futures,
creating a digital engagement platform
to allow over 3,000 members of
the public to design the new fleet
of Metro trains to achieve inclusive
mobility; Future Homes, to create
digitally enabled sustainable homes
for an ageing society; the application
of blue and green infrastructure and
digital retailing in city-centre shopping
areas; and the Big Draw Future Cities
weekend, that encouraged over 500
children to design their own future city.

Myriam Neaimeh, researcher in Transport and Energy,
with one of the UK’s first ‘vehicle-to-grid’ chargers
installed at Newcastle University.
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RELATIONSHIPS
AND RESOURCES
Students
30

Total registered students as at 1 December 2016 were 26,409, a 7% increase
compared with 1 December 2015.
Total students
at 1 December

Full time Part time

Undergraduate
Home and EU
Overseas
Total

2016
Total

2015
Total

Change
%

15,960
2,174
18,134

68
6
74

16,028
2,180
18,208

14,914
2,316
17,230

+7%
–6%
+6%

Postgraduate
Home and EU
Overseas
Total

2,716
2,398
5,114

1,342
105
1,447

4,058
2,503
6,561

3,451
2,686
6,137

+18%
–7%
+7%

Other locations
London
Malaysia
Singapore
Total

184
662
742
1,588

20
4
28
52

204
666
770
1,640

24
560
745
1,329

n/m
+19%
+3%
+23%

24,836

1,573

26,409

24,696

+7%

Total

Since 2011, Home and EU students based in Newcastle have increased by 21%
from 16,551 to 20,086 and international students have increased from 4,494 to
4,683, an increase of 18% on all students.
Teaching in campus locations outside Newcastle includes:

• Malaysia: Undergraduate Medicine (MB BS), a BSc in Biomedical Sciences and some
Masters’ provision (662 undergraduate and 4 postgraduate students in 2016–17)

• Singapore: programmes (in collaboration with the Singapore Institute of Technology)
in marine engineering, naval architecture, offshore engineering, mechanical design
and manufacturing engineering, electrical power engineering, chemical engineering,
and food and human nutrition (714 undergraduate and 56 postgraduate students in
2016–17)

• London: offering both postgraduate and undergraduate programmes in businessrelated subjects in 2016–17, as well as pathway programmes in collaboration with
INTO, our London campus is expected to continue to grow

Undergraduate degrees awarded (summer 2017) were:
Award

2016–17
Number % of total

2015–16
Number % of total

First class
Second class, first division
Second class, second division
Third class
Other

1,037
2,583
739
74
535

21%
52%
15%
1%
11%

921
2,624
715
63
554

19%
54%
15%
1%
11%

Total

4,968

100%

4,877

100%

Note: most of those in the ‘Other’ category are graduates in medicine and dentistry for whom
there is no degree classification. Data as recorded on 4 September 2017 and 15 August 2016.

Newcastle University’s PhD students in the fields of science and
engineering were selected to present their work in parliament.
We continue to undertake extensive
marketing and promotion of our
full student offer to prospective
students, including digital marketing
and campaigns to inform, engage
and support them in their aspiration
to study at Newcastle University.
Our ongoing popularity in 2016–17,
boosted by our excellent student
satisfaction ratings, was again reflected
in record Open Day attendances and
applications for 2017 entry from UK
and EU students, offsetting to some
extent a decline in applications from
international students. In 2016–17
we increased our marketing focus on
international students, with the aim of
increasing applications and conversion.
Our flagship PARTNERS Programme,
available to over 900 schools nationally,
enabled more than 840 widening
participation students to participate
in our residential Summer School in
2017 – our largest cohort ever. Our
Access Agreement commitments
include a major programme of
activities for schools delivered by a
team of highly professional Graduate
Ambassadors. Our extensive outreach
programme is promoted via Teachers’
Toolkit – a unique searchable database
for teachers offering over 400 free
resources.

The achievements of Folk and
Traditional Music alumni have been
recognised at the prestigious
BBC Radio 2 Folk Awards 2017.
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Simon Hacker, School of
Architecture, Planning and
Landscape, winner of ‘Outstanding
Contribution to Feedback’ at the
Teaching Excellence Awards 2017.

Staff
This year we have continued our
focus on investment in high-quality
talent. Overall, full-time equivalent
staff increased by 3% from 5,408
at 31 July 2016 to 5,572 at 31 July
2017. These numbers include 185
full-time equivalent staff employed
by our overseas subsidiaries (2016:
136). During the year, we strengthened
the senior management team with
the appointment of a new ViceChancellor, a Pro-Vice-Chancellor for
Research Strategy and Resources and
a new Executive Director of Human
Resources.
Work commenced on replacing our
Human Resources Strategy with a
new People Strategy and our former
staff development activity has been
re-launched with a focus on
organisational development. These
changes have been influenced by the
Employee Engagement Survey, which
was a move away from the previous
Staff Attitude Survey and gave some
very rich information for us to build on.
We maintained our push to increase
digitisation by introducing an App
which gives staff on-line access to
payslips and personal details, most
of which staff can update. Work is
underway to extend the use of the App
for sickness absence notification and
expenses processing.
We supported the repositioning of
the Faculty of Science, Agriculture
and Engineering as part of the major
Science and Engineering Excellence
project and we also supported the
transfer of the School of Medicine,
Pharmacy and Health from Durham
University which has strengthened the
Faculty of Medical Sciences. Much
work has been undertaken within
our satellite campuses in London,

Professor Sharon Mavin,
new Director of Newcastle
University Business School.

Malaysia and Singapore, including the
introduction of a new payroll service
for international assignees in Malaysia
which has improved the day-to-day
experience of our staff.
Approximately 10% of our staff are
citizens of EEA countries and we have
sought to provide reassurance and
guidance to staff following the UK’s
Brexit vote. We will be monitoring the
situation closely and planning ways to
mitigate the impact on our recruitment
and retention of top international talent.
Staff costs, excluding FRS 102
pension adjustments, in 2016–17 were
£266.1m, a 7% increase from 2015–16
when they were £249.5m. In August
2016, the University implemented a
1.1% uplift for all non-clinical staff and
increases of up to 3.1% for staff on
Grades A to C following agreement of
the national pay award.
In October 2016, the new USS
defined contribution section, the USS
Investment Builder was launched. Any
USS members earning over £55,000 pa
automatically became part of this new
section of the scheme. In addition, all
USS members had the opportunity to
contribute 1% of salary which would
be matched by a further 1% employer
contribution. A series of roadshows
was arranged to provide staff with more
information about this change.
The University continued to make
good progress in promoting equality
and diversity. In September 2016, our
School of English Literature, Language
and Linguistics became the first
non-STEMM school to win an Athena
SWAN Bronze Award, bringing the total
number of individual unit award holders
up to 18. In November 2016, our Dean
of Diversity presented a workshop at
the Equality Challenge Unit Annual
Conference on the theme Building the

Business Case for Equality in higher
education. The University continued
to emphasise its commitment to
inclusion in other areas, by building on
our Global Diversity Champion status
with Stonewall to further develop our
LGBT policies and practices and by
promoting BME staff recruitment with
a University profile on the Black History
Month website.
The University was singled out
for its world-leading research into
ageing, as part of the Queen’s 90th
birthday celebrations. Professor
Louise Robinson, Director, Newcastle
University Institute for Ageing, received
a royal honour in the form of a Regius
Professorship in Ageing, a first for the
University and one of only 12 awarded
nationally. This prestigious title is
bestowed in perpetuity by the Queen,
in recognition of exceptionally highquality research as an institution.
Professor Erica Haimes, Emeritus
Professor in the School of Geography,
Politics and Sociology, received an
OBE for services to social sciences.
Professor Roy Sandbach, Director
of the National Innovation Centre for
Ageing, received an OBE for services
to science, innovation and skills. Our
former Director of Human Resources,
Mrs Veryan Johnston, received an MBE
for services to higher education.
The Vice-Chancellor’s Distinguished
Academic Contribution Awards were
made to Professor Jane Calvert, Dean of
Undergraduate Studies in the Faculty of
Medical Sciences, Professor Eric Cross,
Dean of Cultural Affairs in the Faculty
of Humanities and Social Sciences and
Professor Chris Rodgers, Newcastle
Law School. This year’s recipients of the
Vice-Chancellor’s Academic Distinction
Award were Professor Christine
Harrison, Professor Mary Herbert and
Professor John Mathers.

Newcastle University has become an official partner to the
region’s only Premiership rugby club, Newcastle Falcons.

Partnerships
The University has a number of
partners in the city and across the
sector. Some of our key relationships
are summarised below.

Newcastle Science Central

In December 2016, we concluded
definitive agreements with Newcastle
City Council and Legal & General to
create a three-way partnership to take
forward the development of this site. A
new partnership board has been created
which is working to develop the brand
and marketing strategy for the site and
develop Newcastle as a city of science.
Legal & General has received planning
permission for the development of
a 10,000m2 office building on the
site and a planning application for a
second development will be considered
in autumn 2017. Newcastle City
Council has started building work on
a laboratory incubator facility on the
site, the first such dedicated facility
in Newcastle. The University has
completed work on its first building on
the site, the Urban Sciences Building,
which will be the new home for our
School of Computing as well as our
urban sustainability research teams.

Newcastle City Futures
initiative

Newcastle City Futures (NCF) is a
cross-disciplinary initiative that covers
the University’s urban expertise across
three faculties to address the future
challenges of urban living. NCF acts
as a broker across Newcastle and
Gateshead to link research to a range
of public, private and voluntary sectors
and facilitate innovate project delivery.
Alongside NCF, Newcastle City
Council has created a new governance
model with the formation of the City
Futures Development Group, a special
purpose local authority committee that

brings researchers and policy makers
alongside industry and the community
sector to address the long-term needs
of the city.
Following the success in May 2016
of becoming one of five Urban Living
Partnership pilots, funded by RCUK
and Innovate UK, NCF has partnered
over 100 organisations, welcomed 70
businesses and facilitated over 50 new
innovative project ideas to be led by
a consortia of interested parties. The
initial finding has levered approximately
£2.2m into the city and further funding
opportunities are being actively pursued.

North East Collaborative
Outreach Programme

In January 2017, the University was
awarded £7.7m by HEFCE to lead the
North East Collaborative Outreach
Programme, a consortium of the
five universities and 19 colleges in
the region. The programme aims to
increase the number of young people
in the North East progressing to higher
education. So far, the programme has
worked intensively with over 3,000
students in 108 target schools.

INTO University Partnerships
(IUP)

The University operates two joint
ventures with IUP: INTO Newcastle, a
pathway centre located on the main
campus which celebrated its 10th
anniversary in September 2017 and
Newcastle University London, our
London-based campus which offers a
selection of pathway, undergraduate
and postgraduate programmes.
Financially, INTO Newcastle had a
disappointing year with a 7% reduction
in student volumes similar to the issues
faced by the University in its mainstream
international activity. The London
operation held its first graduation
ceremony in November 2016.

Urban Sciences
Building interior.

Cultural engagement

Working with cultural partners
provides a wealth of engagement
opportunities for staff and students.
It provides excellent opportunities for
interdisciplinary research across our
three faculties and varied placement
opportunities for our students. The
Newcastle University Institute for
Creative Arts Practice (NICAP) provides
a hub for the creative arts at Newcastle
University. It stimulates interaction
between all our creative practitioners
and showcases their work, exploring
ideas and challenging perceived
boundaries between academic
disciplines. NICAP are working with
key partners across the city and region
to develop strong and multifaceted
relationships.
Newcastle University’s Great North
Museum: Hancock houses world-class
collections of archaeology, natural
history, geology and ethnography.
These nationally and internationally
significant collections are actively used
in research and teaching and provide
opportunities for cross-disciplinary
collaborations. The Vital North
Partnership is a strategic partnership
between Seven Stories – The National
Centre for Children’s books and
Newcastle University, supported by
Arts Council England. We enjoy active
relationships with Northern Stage and
Sage Gateshead.
Creative Fuse North East is a £3m
project designed to explore how the
creative, digital and IT (CDIT) sector
in the North East can be developed
in order to play a leading role in the
region’s economy. Involving all five
of the North East’s universities –
Newcastle, Northumbria, Durham,
Sunderland and Teesside – the project is
funded jointly by the universities and the
Arts and Humanities Research Council.
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International partnerships

The University has circa 360 formal
partnerships with non-UK universities
and is party to circa 2,900 research
collaborations. Most of these are built
and maintained by individual academic
colleagues as part of their normal
research activity. In addition, we have
14 strategic partnerships which are
managed corporately with a named
academic leader. These are:
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• Monash University, Australia
• Xiamen University, China
• RENKEI Network (Focus on Osaka
University), Japan

Estate

We continue to improve the quality and
functional suitability of our floor space
through investing in maintenance, new
build, refurbishment, rationalising the
use of floor space and withdrawing
from or finding alternative uses for,
space that is no longer fit for purpose.
The table below shows our progress
to date.

Our estate strategic objectives are to
facilitate academic priorities and:

• improve the condition and functional
suitability of our buildings

• implement the Coherent Campus

initiative to improve space between
buildings

• ensure effective utilisation of space
• deliver ‘full life cycle’ value for money
on all major projects

Target**
2016–17

• University of Groningen, Netherlands
• Cornell University, USA
• IUPUI (Indiana University Purdue-

Measure
Floor space in
condition category
A&B

88%

88%

88%

77%*

88%

• University of Pittsburgh, USA
• Loyola University Maryland, USA
• Indian Institute of Technology Delhi,

Floor space in
functional suitability
grade 1 & 2

91%

91%

91%

88%*

90%

Gross internal area
per student & staff
FTE (m2)

12.6

12.4

12.0

12.4*

11.6

University Indiana), USA

India

• Universitas Indonesia
• University of Malaya, Malaysia
• Nanyang Technological University,
Singapore

2013–14 2014–15 2015–16

Russell
Group
Benchmark

*Top quartile in the Russell Group (previously benchmarked against a peer group).
**2016–17 targets are subject to HESA data confirmation.

• National University of Singapore
• Agency for Science, Technology and
Research (A*STAR), Singapore

Artist’s impression of
the new Learning and
Teaching Centre.

Armstrong Dome.
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The operational estate area is
currently 219,100m2 (net internal
area), an increase of 3,100m2 on
the previous year, primarily due to
the addition of new facilities. The
floor area is estimated to increase
further to 222,400m2 by July 2018 as
new buildings, refurbishments and
extensions become operational.
The development of the estate
continues. Phase 5A of the major
refurbishment of the Armstrong
Building is now complete and the
next phase completes this year. Our
paediatric oncology research activity
was relocated in September 2016 to
provide expanded and refurbished
facilities in the Herschel Building.
Other completed projects included
the Immunology refurbishment project
in the Medical School (which won
a Constructing Excellence Award
for Integration and Collaborative
Working); an extension to the School of
Architecture; and refurbishment of the
Hatton Gallery.
We continue to improve the quality
of our student teaching and learning
facilities and have invested £1.5m in
the upgrading of teaching rooms and
lecture theatres and in refurbishing
teaching labs, computer rooms
and other student-facing areas.

Functional suitability for teaching
space (grade 1 and 2) is at 91% (95%
target) with frequency of use at 61%
(60% target).
The Coherent Campus initiative
continued with projects including
the improvement of the Curtis
Auditorium landscaping, an extensive
planting programme; improvements to
the Lovers Lane pedestrian route; and
additional cycle parking. The Martin
Luther King Jr sculpture, commissioned
for the Armstrong Courtyard, will be
installed in 2017.
The Urban Sciences Building, our
first building on Science Central was
completed in summer 2017. Building
work on the Learning and Teaching
Centre and the Innovation Centre
at Science Central commenced in
2017, and we expect to complete the
University’s three buildings on the site
by the end of 2019. The Boiler House
redevelopment completes in 2017.
Park View Student Village development
is progressing well and the 1,279-bed
facility is on schedule for the 2018
intake. The Sports Centre extension on
the adjacent Richardson Road site is
scheduled to commence construction
in December 2018; however, as yet
there is no definitive date for the
development of the final plot on the
Richardson Road site.

A design team has been appointed
for the redevelopment of the
Claremont Complex and design work
is progressing with the academic
stakeholders. Lloyds TSB has
surrendered its lease of Black Horse
House (owned by the University)
and surveys are being undertaken to
determine the scale and scope of future
refurbishment. The second phase of
refurbishment of the Marjorie Robinson
Library Rooms has received Council
approval and this project will be
progressed during 2017–18.
As part of the development of a
Residential Estate Strategy, options
are being considered for the
redevelopment of the Castle Leazes
site with a view to increasing capacity
from 1,100 beds to circa 2,000. A
variety of financial options to fund this
development are being considered. It is
hoped that the development can both
incorporate and catalyse surface water
flood management measures to protect
both the University campus and the
wider city should it progress.
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Information
technology
Further progress has been made in
delivering one IT service across the
University. All IT teams use one service
management system for tracking IT
service and incident requests; the
majority of all University desktop PC
purchases are procured through a
single tendering exercise resulting in
hardware and support savings, and
a set of IT architecture principles has
been adopted.
Student satisfaction with our IT
provision remains high. The National
Student Survey question on ‘IT
resources have supported my learning
well’ reported 88% satisfaction,
inside the top quartile for the sector.
The International Student Barometer
rated Newcastle at 89% for internet
access, ranked first in the Russell

Group and 96% for virtual learning
environment ranked first in the UK (out
of 182 and 42 participating institutions,
respectively).
Learning, teaching and assessment are
supported by high-quality technology
and facilities. There were over 5.3m
log-ins to our main virtual learning
platform Blackboard in 2016–17, an
increase of 10% on the previous year.
The ReCap lecture capture service is
an important and valued resource
to support learning and teaching.
There were 31,864 recordings,
attracting more than 774,792 views in
the year, an increase of 10% on the
previous year.
During 2016–17 the University procured
and is presently commissioning a
High Performance Computing service.
Further consolidation of servers and
data storage has taken place with three
petabytes of secure, replicated data

storage available to support teaching
and research.
Cyber security continues to be an
important issue for the University.
Executive Board reviews cyber threats
and risks on a quarterly basis, and
the University’s risk appetite to cyber
threats has been codified. Greater
external engagement through the
Cyber Security Information Sharing
Partnership has improved the
University’s responsiveness to active
cyber threats as well as feeding back
our experiences into that community.
There has been a significant investment
in staff resource in delivering the IT
to support large capital projects such
as the Urban Sciences Building and
the School of Pharmacy as well as
planning for the delivery of Park View
Student Village and the Science Central
Learning and Teaching Centre.

Operational
sustainability
Newcastle University has again been
ranked as one of the most sustainable
universities in the UK by the People &
Planet University League, being placed
8th overall in 2016. The University
received the highest score of all
research-intensive universities and is
the first to be ranked in the top 10 in
the last five years. The University also
ranked 10th in the UI GreenMetric
World University Ranking for 2016, a
green university league table in which
hundreds of universities participate
from all over the world.

Final-year Fine Art student
Helena Lacey created the art
installation ‘Academic Waste’,
which takes waste from three
academic areas and displays it
in perspex tubes.

The 2016 staff travel survey revealed
a further reduction in staff singleoccupancy car journeys to work,
down to less than 15% (from 40%
in 2004), with over 75% of staff now
travelling to the University by public
transport, walking or cycling. Continual
improvement has been achieved
through consistent effort over many
years to implement the measures set
out in our Travel Plans and included
in our Environmental Management
System (ISO 14001 certified since
2012). These measures include free
‘Dr Bike’ cycle maintenance sessions,
discounted public transport tickets,
including payment via salary deduction
and improved facilities for cyclists,
including increased cycle parking
spaces from 612 (2006) to 1,527
(2016). We are proud that our process
of continual improvement has resulted
in Newcastle University being the
only Russell Group university outside
London to be in the lower quartile for
single-occupancy car journeys.
We retain a carbon reduction target of
43% by 2020 based on government
success with decarbonising grid
electricity. If this is not achieved we aim
to maintain our emissions at 2005–06
levels which is challenging, given the
growth in the estate and research
intensity. In 2005–06 our emissions
baseline was 41,187 tCO2, in 2015–16
emissions were 36,630 tCO2, including
circa 3,900 tCO2 of emissions relating
to new buildings and acquisitions since
the baseline year. This performance is
in line with our target to maintain our
emissions at 2005–06 levels as further
additional buildings will add to our
footprint in coming years.
Our rolling programme of carbonsaving measures, including LED
lighting replacements, is reducing
CO2 emissions by over 2,500 tonnes

per annum. We have recently
draughtproofed seven buildings, a
measure projected to save circa
235 tCO2 per annum and improve
comfort for staff and students. Other
carbon reduction measures undertaken
include a heating pipework insulation
programme saving circa £42,000 and
1,400 GWh per year, and the
replacement of old inefficient laboratory
drying cabinets with modern, insulated
cabinets with time controls.
In addition, an LED lighting retrofit
project has been completed in three
pilot buildings. Building on the success
of the pilot projects in delivering
significant energy and carbon savings,
Council approved a £2.4m Universitywide project, commencing in 2017–18.
The project is expected to deliver
carbon savings of over 1,000 tCO2.
With our partners, we have been
supporting Newcastle City Council’s
aim to deliver an ambitious district
energy scheme for Science Central.
We expect to secure a 40-year contract
to deliver efficient, low carbon energy
to our buildings on the site.
We have continued to invest in
increasing our renewable energy
capacity; our existing solar photovoltaic
capacity of 37kW has been increased
to 99kW with new arrays installed
at our newly built Tyne Offshore
facility, the extension to the School
of Architecture and the recently
completed Urban Sciences Building.
New guidance and facilities to improve
segregation of laboratory waste have
been developed. This will reduce
the volume of waste we send to
incineration, instead using alternative
treatment methods with lower
environmental impact. Our shared
services contract for general waste
and recycling with Northumbria and
Sunderland Universities continues to
enable us to achieve a general waste
recycling rate of over 90%.
The introduction of smart water
meters is saving over 28,000m3 of
water per annum – enough to fill
over 10 Olympic-sized swimming
pools, with more savings to be
realised in coming years. Issues
identified and rectified include:
‘single pass’ water-cooled laboratory
equipment, leaks in Northumbrian
Water’s pipework and faulty sanitary
ware. We have reduced our water
consumption per staff and student
FTE by over a third since our 2005–06
baseline.
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The Financial Review (pages 38–43) analyses the
University’s financial performance during the past
year and summarises our financial strategy and the
future outlook. As the University’s Chief Financial
Officer, I am responsible to the Vice-Chancellor for
delivery of the University’s financial strategy and the
preparation of these financial statements.

Highlights
2016–17

2015–16

Change

488

476

+3%

46

52

–12%

Adjusted EBITDA as % income

9%

11%

–

Year-end cash balance (£m)
Gross
Net

226
102

279
153

–19%
–33%

Income (£m)
Adjusted EBITDA (£m)

Introduction
The key financial sustainability metric
used by the University (in common with
most of the sector) is earnings before
FRS 102 pension adjustments interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation
(adjusted EBITDA – see note 27). We
have chosen to focus on this as the
best measure of the University’s ability
to generate cash inflows and because
it is less prone than total surplus to
movements in equity values and
changes in discount rates. Our financial
strategy aims for adjusted EBITDA to be
at least 6% of income.
2016–17 was another good year for
the University and better than we had
expected 12 months ago. Adjusted
EBITDA was £46.0m (9.4% of income)

compared to £52.3m (11.0% of income)
in 2015–16. Total income grew by
3% from £476.2m to £487.9m with
continued increases in fee income, as a
result of the new funding arrangements.
Total expenditure increased by 3%
from £456.4m to £468.9m, reflecting
the investment in staff and facilities
to successfully deliver the increased
volumes of students and to fund new
strategic activities.

Our capital expenditure programme
gathered pace during the year with
£104.9m of additions on land and
buildings and £12.4m on equipment
and infrastructure. This resulted in gross
cash balances, including short-term
liquid deposits, declining by £52.2m
from £278.5m to £226.3m. Net cash
balances, which exclude the impact of
borrowing activity and leases, reduced
from £153.2m to £102.2m.

Surplus after tax was £27.0m in
2016–17 compared to £19.4m in
2015–16. Much of the year-on-year
increase was due to strong market
performance of our endowment assets
which grew by 18% during the year
from £63.4m to £75.2m.

Although we are concerned about the
impact of the UK’s decision to leave the
EU, continued volatility in international
student recruitment, the financial health
of the USS pension scheme and, in the
longer term, fees and funding policy
for UK students, we remain confident
that the University is well placed for
the future.

39

Adjusted EBITDA, as a percentage of income
Excluding the impact of Research and Development
Expenditure credits
NB Years prior to 2014–15 based on previous accounting standards.

Net cash balance (£m)
180
160

10%

140
as at 31 July

EBITDA as % of income

12%

8%
6%
4%

100
80
60
40

2%

20
2017

2016

2015

2014

0

2013

16-17

15-16

14-15

13-14

12-13

0%

120

Going concern
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The following are the key elements that
give Council assurance in this area:

Council confirms that it has reasonable
expectation that the University has
adequate resources to continue in
operation for the foreseeable future.
For this reason, it continues to adopt
the going concern basis for preparing
the financial statements. In reaching
this conclusion, it has reviewed
the sustainability of the University
and is satisfied that the strategies,
plans and processes in place will
help the University move towards
the achievement of its strategy. In
particular, it is satisfied that academic
strategies take account of the
environment in which the University
is operating as an institution and are
financially sustainable.

• it regularly reviews the University’s

Income

Academic fees from full-time home
and EU students grew by 11% from
£129.6m to £143.7m, reflecting growth
of 6% in undergraduate students
and 16% in postgraduate students,
together with the impact of the
£9,000 pa undergraduate tuition fee
introduced in 2012 and an increase in
postgraduate taught fees. Income from
full-time non-EU students taught in the
UK fell by 3% from £67.1m to £65.3m,
reflecting a 9% decline in student
numbers, offset by fee increases. The
reasons for the decline are many and
varied but reflect the impact of greater
competition within the UK. Recruitment
trends for 2017 entry suggest that
we have managed to halt the decline
and we can cautiously look forward to
moderate growth in future years. Fee
income at our overseas campuses
grew by 22% from £15.6m to £19.2m,
reflecting beneficial foreign exchange
movements as well as a 10% growth in
student numbers.

Total income in 2016–17 was £487.9m,
an increase of 3% from £476.2m in
2015–16. Key income streams are
summarised below.

Academic fees

48%

Funding bodies

14%

Research income

22%

Residences, catering
and conferences

4%

Health authorities

3%

Endowments, donations
and interest

2%

Other income

7%

performance using a number of key
performance indicators in areas
that are relevant to institutional
sustainability

A new generation of
prosthetic limbs, which will
allow the wearer to reach things
automatically, without thinking just like a real hand - are to be
trialled for the first time by
Newcastle University
biomedical engineers.

• it has agreed a long-term adjusted
target EBITDA margin of 6% of
income (with a minimum of 4% in
any one year) to reflect the need
to generate cash to manage the
University now and in the future

• it regularly reviews the University’s

strategic risk register and is assisted
in this process by Audit Committee

Funding body grants deceased in line
with expectations from £72.7m to
£69.1m. Most of the reduction was due
to specific rather than recurring grants,
reflecting timing of building work for
the Tyne Offshore research centre.
Recurring grants reduced by £0.2m
(0.3%) with the final impact of the
new fees and funding regime largely
offset by the reintroduction of inflation
linking of key elements of the grant and
a significant increase in support for
disabled students.

Funding body grants, as a percentage
of income, declined from 15.3% in
2015–16 to 14.2% in 2016–17 and
is expected to reduce to 13.2% in
2017–18.
Research income declined by 2%
from £110.2m in 2015–16 to £107.6m
in 2016–17, reflecting a lower level of
new grant awards in 2015–16. Grant
funding for staff related costs grew by
3% but this was more than offset by a
7% decline in funding for equipment
and other non-pay costs. Research
Council income decreased by 3%
from £32.6m in 2015–16 to £31.6m in
2016–17, research income from UK
government and health authorities
decreased by 10% from £24.9m
to £22.4m and income from EU
government sources decreased
by 11% from £14.2m to £12.6m.
Partly offsetting these declines, UK
charity income increased by 8% from
£24.3m to £26.2m and there was a
very encouraging 43% growth in
non-EU income from £4.6m to
£6.6m. New grants awards were
much stronger in 2016–17 so there is
reasonable confidence for growth in
research income in 2017–18.
Other income increased by 4% from
£63.7m to £66.3m, reflecting growth
in consultancy (£1.0m) and royalties
(£0.8m). New endowments in 2016–17
were £2.8m (2015–16 £1.1m) and
other charitable donations were £2.4m
(2015–16 £4.7m).
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Expenditure
Total expenditure in 2016–17 was
£468.9m, 3% higher than 2015–16.
Expenditure in both years was inflated
by FRS 102 pension adjustments with
the underlying costs increasing by
4% from £445.5m to £463.2m. Key
expenditure streams are summarised
below.

Underlying staff costs increased by 7% from £249.5m to £266.1m and represented
54.5% of income (2015–16 52.5%). This is still below the University’s long-term
target of 55% of total income and we continue to work to recruit additional
academic staff.

Staff costs as a percentage of income:
Target – ca 55% of income
Newcastle
Russell Group Median
56%
Staff costs as % of income

54%

Residences, catering
and conferences
Research grants
and contracts
Other

In summary reported staff costs comprise:

3%
19%
3%

16-17

11%

42%
15-16

Premises

44%

14-15

14%

46%

13-14

9%

Administrative and
central services

48%

40%

41%

Academic services

50%

12-13

Academic schools

52%

Underlying costs
USS pension cost adjustment
Local scheme pension cost adjustment
Reported costs

2016–17
£m
266.1
(4.8 )
7.6
268.9

2015–16
£m
249.5
3.4
4.4
257.3

Interest costs reduced by £1.4m from
£8.5m to £7.1m, mainly due to one-off
breakage costs when our Barclays
Bank loans were repaid in December
2015, partly offset by interest payable
on our European Investment Bank loan.

Non-UK staff costs grew by 33% from
£5.4m to £7.2m reflecting adverse
exchange rate movements as well as
a 10% growth in staff numbers in line
with growth in activity. UK costs grew
by 6% from £244.1m to £258.9m,
reflecting a growth of 3% in full-time
equivalent staff numbers, a 1.1%
increase in non-clinical pay scales from
1 August 2016 (with higher increases
for lower paid staff) and increases in
USS pension contributions.
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Other items
Our share of the results of our joint
ventures was a deficit of £2.5m,
compared to a deficit of £2.0m in
2015–16. The deficit was mainly due
to start-up costs associated with our
London campus, which is operated
as a joint venture with INTO University
Partnerships, and a provision for
prior year VAT liabilities for the INTO
Newcastle joint venture. Although there
was significant change to the corporate
structure for the development of
Science Central during the year, the
financial impact in the accounts was
small.

Other operating expenses increased
by 1% from £172.3m to £173.7m.
Student scholarships, bursaries and
prizes increased by £0.8m (3%) from
£24.0m to £24.8m reflecting the
increased investment in the University’s
Access Agreement and increased
support for postgraduate research
students. Insurance costs increased by
21% from £1.4m to £1.7m, reflecting
higher market prices and an increase
in University activity. Business rates
increased from £0.4m to £1.1m due to
the impact of historic refunds in
2015–16. Offsetting these increases
was a 7% reduction in researchrelated non-pay costs (matching
income trends) and a small reduction
in utility costs due to VAT rebates. The
Students’ Union subvention reduced
slightly due to one-off grants in
2015–16.

The gain on investments in our
endowments funds was £11.0m
(2015–16: £2.2m). This reflected a
strong year for global stock markets,
enhanced by favourable foreign
exchange movement and continued
over-performance by our investment
managers.
The taxation charge was £0.9m
(2015–16: £0.5m), reflecting continued
strong performance by our operations
in Singapore and Malaysia.

Depreciation increased by 5% from
£18.2m to £19.1m, reflecting continued
high levels of equipment expenditure
as we continue to invest in our research
capacity, notably through the Research
Investment Fund. Depreciation costs
are expected to increase sharply in
2017–18 with completion of a number
of major building projects, notably the
new Urban Sciences Building.

Pensions
As the USS is a multi-employer scheme
with no basis to accurately identify
Newcastle University’s share of the
assets and liabilities, we do not make
a balance sheet provision for our share
of the deficit. However, as required by

Infrastructure investment:
Target ≥ 3% of insurance replacement value
10%

FRS 102, we make a balance sheet
provision for the discounted future
obligation to make deficit recovery
payments. This liability reduced by
£3.9m during the year from £48.9m
to £45.0m primarily due to expected
in-year contributions.
The next triennial valuation of the
USS is due as at 31 March 2017.
This is expected to show a technical
provisions deficit of circa £5.2 billion.
The current expectation is that the
deficit recovery payment will remain at
the same level as agreed following the
2014 valuation (2.1% of pensionable
salary). Current indications are that,
without further changes to the benefit
structure, there will need to be a very
significant increase in the cost of
future accrual. The collective view of
scheme employers is that this would
be unaffordable and we expect to see
a series of consultations on changes to
benefits during 2017–18.
The most recent triennial valuation of
the RBP was at 1 August 2016. This
revealed a surplus of £15.3m relative
to the technical provisions (7% of
liabilities) and reflects outstanding
investment management in the past
few years. However, without changes
to the benefit structure, the costs of
future accrual will need to increase by
4% of pensionable salary from April
2019. The University’s view is that this
is unaffordable and we will undertake a
series of consultations on changes to
benefits during 2017–18. As required
by FRS 102, staff costs were increased
by £7.6m in 2016–17 (2015–16 £4.4m),
net interest costs were increased
by £2.0m (2015–16 £2.3m) and an
actuarial gain of £34.7m (2015–16
£12.7m loss) was recognised to reflect
the FRS 102 valuation of the scheme.

Capital expenditure (£m)
Malaysia campus finance lease shown in red
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Balance sheet
Capital additions in 2016–17 were
£117.3m (2015–16 £39.7m) reflecting
a significant ramp-up in investment in
the University’s estate and research
and IT capacity. Equipment additions
were £12.4m, a significant increase on
the £7.9m investment in 2015–16. This
was largely driven by the University’s
Research Investment Fund. Land and
buildings additions were £104.9m
compared to £31.8m in 2015–16,
reflecting significant expenditure on the
Urban Sciences Building at Science
Central and the redevelopment of the
Richardson Road student residences as
well as continued modernisation of the
Armstrong Building. The very high levels
of activity at the end of the year resulted
in a significant increase in short-term
creditors from £102.5m to £127.0m.
There were £59.3m of contracted
capital commitments at 31 July 2017
(2016: £64.6m) with authorised, but
not yet contracted projects totalling
£125.0m (2016: £154.5m) including an
extension to the Sports Centre (£25.5m)
and the new Learning and Teaching
Centre at Science Central (£34.0m).
As expected, gross cash balances
including short-term liquid deposits,
declined by £52.2m from £278.5m to
£226.3m to reflect the high levels of
capital expenditure. Net cash balances,
which exclude the impact of borrowing
activity and leases, also reduced from
£153.2m to £102.2m.

Treasury
At 31 July 2017, the University had
£138.1m short-term liquid deposits
(2015: £185.0m). The level of deposits
fluctuates throughout the year with
materially higher balances between
September and December and
between May and July due to the
timing of tuition fees and HEFCE
grants. Although this does not create
short-term liquidity issues for the
University, it does restrict our flexibility
on optimising investment returns.
Our investments are controlled by our
counterparty policy, which is agreed by
Finance Committee with advice from
brokers. We only place our money with
banks and building societies which
we consider to be secure based on
external benchmarks. We regularly
review our investments and take
rapid action if we believe there is any
deterioration in risk. An independent
review of our cash management
activities was carried out during
2016 and changes were made to our
processes as a result.

At 31 July 2017, the University had
£75.2m of endowments (2015: £63.4m).
Endowments are primarily invested in
equities. The University uses Majedie,
Baillie Gifford and Black Rock to
manage its investments. Finance
Committee meets formally with our two
active managers, Majedie and Baillie
Gifford, once a year, and the Executive
Director of Finance meets quarterly with
them to review progress. In addition, we
receive monthly performance reports
from all of our managers. Majedie and
Baillie Gifford have been reappointed as
the University’s investment managers
for four years from 1 September 2017
and Royal London Asset Management
has been appointed as a new
investment manager. The University’s
ethical investment policy provides
a mechanism whereby students or
staff can challenge how the University
invests its funds and also requires our
investment managers to subscribe
to the United Nations Principles for
Responsible Investment (UNPRI).
The University also gives priority to
investment managers who preferentially
invest in progressive companies that are
working towards low carbon solutions.

Outlook
Our financial strategy sets out six key
priorities:

• create capacity for strategic

development by achieving an
average earnings before interest,
tax, depreciation and amortisation
(EBITDA) margin of at least 6% of
income, with a 4% minimum in any
financial year

• maintain a robust balance sheet with
•
•

sufficient cash reserves to meet our
financial obligations
deliver value for money in all our
activities
use the University’s cash reserves
and, if necessary, borrowing
capacity, to invest in academic and
student experience to enhance
research quality and reputation,
teaching quality and student
satisfaction

• improve our market share of income
within the Russell Group

• provide enterprise resource planning

services that are top quartile in higher
education and which meet our legal
and ethical obligations

We expect continued strong financial
performance in 2017–18. Current
indications are that 2017 student
recruitment will be close to target.

In the medium term, we are
concerned about the impact of the
EU referendum vote and continued
volatility in international student
recruitment. Significant work is in
progress to understand and mitigate
both these threats. Both our main
pension schemes give cause for
concern and we can foresee very
difficult discussions on the continued
sustainability of the USS as the
Trustees, along with employer and
employee representatives, decide how
to react to the March 2017 actuarial
valuation. In the longer term, there is a
significant possibility of major changes
to the fees and funding regime for UK
students which may be a challenge to
the University’s financial sustainability.
Despite the challenges, we believe the
next few years also present us with
significant opportunity. The University’s
new long-term strategic vision will be
agreed during the coming year and
we have well-developed plans for
the future to invest in academic staff,
student experience, research and IT
infrastructure and new buildings. The
transfer of the School of Medicine,
Pharmacy and Health from Durham
University to Newcastle University
on 1 August 2017 will help to grow
teaching and research activity in the
Faculty of Medical Sciences and the
opening of the Urban Sciences Building
in August 2017 provides a superb
opportunity to grow our School of
Computing and our research activity in
the field of sustainability. Opportunities
to grow activity in humanities and
social sciences are limited by estates
constraints and we are working on
plans to address these constraints.
The key strategic risks which may
impact financial sustainability are:

• failure to maintain a financially robust
pensions provision

• failure to respond effectively to the
decision to leave the European
Union which could impact student
recruitment, research income and
staff recruitment and retention

• failure to meet home and

international student recruitment
targets

• failure to maintain the estate as

functionally suitable and have an
appropriate information strategy and
control of data

• failure to ensure proper conduct of

business and be able to respond to
severe business disruption events
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The Corporate Governance Statement (pages 44–49)
provides an overview of the governance of the University,
processes for ensuring the student voice is heard and for
management of risk, Council’s responsibilities and the
arrangements to ensure sound internal controls are in
place. As Chair of Council, I take a lead role in ensuring
good governance is exercised by the University.

Corporate
Governance
Statement
Newcastle University endeavours to
conduct its business in accordance
with the seven principles identified by
the Committee on Standards in Public
Life (selflessness, integrity, objectivity,
accountability, openness, honesty and
leadership), and with the guidance to
universities from the Committee of
University Chairs.
In addition, the University has a
responsibility to ensure that slavery and
human trafficking are not taking place
in our business or in our supply chains.
Our Slavery and Human Trafficking
Statement can be accessed on our
external website at www.ncl.ac.uk/foi/
publication-scheme/policies
The University is an independent
corporation whose legal status derives
from the Universities of Durham and
Newcastle upon Tyne Act 1963 which,
with its supporting statutes and
schedules, sets out the University’s
objectives, powers and framework of
governance.
The statutes require the University to
have a number of separate bodies,
each with clearly defined functions
and responsibilities, to oversee and
manage its activities. Convocation is a
meeting of the alumni and is the body
that appoints the Chancellor. Academic
Board is a meeting of all academic and
related staff and receives an annual
report from the Vice-Chancellor.

The Registrar acts as Secretary of
Council and Senate. Any enquiries
about the constitution and governance
of the University should be addressed
to the Registrar. The University
maintains a Register of Interests
of Members of Council and Senior
Officers, which may be consulted by
arrangement with the Registrar.

Senate
Senate is the academic authority of the
University and draws its membership
predominantly from the academic staff
and the students of the institution.
Its role is to direct and regulate the
teaching and research work of the
University. Senate met seven times
during 2016–17, including one joint
meeting with Council.

Court
Court is not part of the University’s dayto-day decision-making processes,
but plays an important and influential
role on behalf of the University’s
stakeholders. Its membership is
representative of the University,
the local community and other
organisations with an interest in the
work of the University. It meets twice
a year to receive a report from the
Vice-Chancellor and to discuss any
matters relevant to the interests and
wellbeing of the University.

Paul Walker

Chair of Council
and Pro-Chancellor

Council
Council is the supreme governing body,
responsible for the finance, property,
investments and general business
of the University, and for setting the
general strategic direction of the
institution. It is also responsible for the
University’s system of internal control
and for reviewing its effectiveness,
including the appropriateness of its
arrangements for risk management
and value for money. It keeps under
regular review the performance of
the University and makes use of key
performance indicators to assist in this
task. A statement of Council’s primary
responsibilities is provided on pages
47–48.
Council undertakes annual reviews
of its effectiveness using guidance
given in The Higher Education Code
of Governance published by the
Committee of University Chairs in
December 2014. The University
complies with all seven primary
elements in the code and the
compulsory elements.
Council has a majority of members
from outside the University (lay
members) including three lay officers:
Chair, two Vice-Chairs and Treasurer.
During 2016–17 Mr Paul Walker was
appointed Chair with effect from
1 August 2017. Members also include
staff of the University and the student
body. None of the lay members
receives any payment, apart from
reimbursed expenses, for the work they
do for the University. Council normally
meets six times each academic year.

Members of Council during
2016–17 were:
Mr Mark I’Anson (Chair) 1
Professor Chris Brink 2
(until December 2016)
Professor Chris Day 2
(from January 2017)
Mr Neil Braithwaite 1
Professor Paul Christensen 2
Mr Mike Davison 1
Mr Christopher Duddy 3
Dr Jonathan Galloway 2
Mr Jonathan Glass 1
Mrs Teresa Graham 1
Ms Jacqui Henderson (Vice-Chair) 1
Professor Tom Joyce 2
Mr Stephen Lightley (Treasurer) 1
Mr Jeff McIntosh 1
Mrs Heidi Mottram 1
Ms Dianne Nelmes 1
Dr Ole Pedersen 2
Professor Tony Stevenson 2
Mr Jack Taylor 3
Mr Paul Walker (Vice-Chair) 1
Ms Vicky Wright 1
Lay member
2
Employee of the University
3
Student representative
1

Council met six times during 2016–17,
including one joint meeting with
Senate. Amongst other matters and,
in consultation with Senate, Council
agreed to:

• the Science and Engineering

Excellence project for the major
academic restructuring of the
Faculty of Science, Agriculture and
Engineering and outline proposals
for investment in our science
infrastructure

• approve the transfer of the School of

Medicine, Pharmacy and Health from
the University of Durham in a way
that protects the student interest

• endorse Senate’s recommendation
that assurance can be given to
HEFCE regarding the University’s
student academic experience,
student outcomes and degree
standards

• approve the capital and recurrent

investment in the National Innovation
Centre for Ageing and the National
Innovation Centre for Data which
will occupy the same building on the
Science Central site

Much of the detailed work is routed
through committees of Council. The
following five committees are formally
constituted as committees of Council
with written terms of reference and
specified membership, including a
significant proportion of lay members.
The decisions of these committees
are reported to Council and, where
relevant, Senate.

Audit, Risk
and Assurance
Committee
Audit, Risk and Assurance Committee
is a committee of Council, comprising
three lay members of Council and
additional lay members. It meets five
times each year with the University’s
internal auditors (and, where relevant,
external auditors) in attendance. The
Committee reviews the University’s
strategic risk management and the
effectiveness of internal control
systems by considering detailed reports
together with recommendations for
improvement, management responses
and implementation plans. As part of its
annual opinion it also gives assurance
about the management and quality of
data to the HEFCE, Higher Education
Statistics Agency and other public
bodies. Members during 2016–17 were:

Finance Committee
Finance Committee considers and
recommends to Council the financial
strategy for the University and advises
on investments, determines the level
of funding to be made available to
support the annual budget allocations,
approves the accounting policies and
considers the financial statements.
It also has overall responsibility for
ensuring the appropriate management
of taxation within the University.
Members during 2016–17 were:
Mr Stephen Lightley (Chair)
Mr Neil Braithwaite
Professor Chris Brink
(until December 2016)
Professor Chris Day (from January 2017)
Mr Mark I’Anson
Mr Jeff McIntosh
Professor Tony Stevenson

Nominations
Committee
Nominations Committee makes
recommendations to Council in respect
of the appointment of lay members of
Council, the offices of Chair and ViceChair of Council, Honorary Treasurer
and members of the Committees of
Council. Members during 2016–17 were:

Mr Mike Davison (Chair)
(lay member of Council)
Ms Jacqui Henderson
(lay member of Council)
Mr Jonathan Glass
(lay member of Council)
Dr Mike Laker
Mr David Bird (from January 2017)
Mr David Carroll (from January 2017)
Ms Angela Woodburn

Mr Mark I’Anson (Chair)
Professor Chris Brink
(until December 2016)
Professor Chris Day (from January 2017)
Ms Claire Morgan
Ms Dianne Nelmes
Ms Fiona O’Connor
Professor Tony Stevenson
Mr Paul Walker
Mr Rob Williamson

As part of the review of governance,
the Committee completed an
effectiveness review which was
undertaken by another lay member of
Council with expertise in this area and
two members of staff. This led to a
number of changes to strengthen the
strategic input from the Committee
including increasing the number of
lay members with a key specialism (IT
and estates issues), supporting buying
in additional internal audit expertise
when required, exploring the use of
assurance mapping, changing the
name from Audit Committee to better
reflect the work performed, as well as a
number of operational changes to the
preparing and handling of reports.

Council has approved a strategy for
the appointment of new lay members
which Nominations Committee
implements on its behalf. The intention
remains to appoint high-calibre
individuals with specific skills that
are of value to the University and a
commitment to the principles and
future success of the University.
Prior engagement with the University
via a committee or similar is an
advantage before an individual joins
the governing body. Council benefits
from a diversity of members and
actively seeks to promote equality and
diversity throughout the institution. It is
committed to the aim of the 30% Club
– at least 30%, and preferably more, of
its lay members to be women.
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Remuneration
Committee
Remuneration Committee considers
the remuneration and terms and
conditions of senior members of staff.
Members during 2016–17 were:
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Ms Jacqui Henderson (Chair)
Mr Mark I’Anson
Professor Chris Brink
(until December 2016)
Professor Chris Day
(from January 2017)
Mr Stephen Lightley
Ms Vicky Wright
The Vice-Chancellor was not present
for any discussion regarding his own
remuneration. Council has agreed that
the Vice-Chancellor will cease to be a
member of the committee.

University/
Students’ Union
Partnership
Committee
The University and the Students’ Union
have a joint Partnership Committee,
constituted as a sub-committee of
Council, chaired by a lay member
of Council, which meets regularly to
discuss matters of common interest.
This committee also discharges the
University’s obligations with regards to
the Students’ Union under the terms
of the Education Act 1994 on behalf of
Council.

Executive Board
Executive Board is the senior
management team of the University
and is formally designated as a joint
committee of Council and Senate. It
keeps under review the University’s
strategy and makes recommendations
on the development of the strategy
to Senate and Council. It develops
and regularly reviews the University’s
business plan, assesses the risks related
to the delivery of the plan, and ensures
that appropriate measures are in place
to assure the financial sustainability of
the University’s activities. Executive
Board reports on these matters regularly
to Council. Through the monitoring
undertaken by its Financial Monitoring
and Budget Scrutiny Group and Budget
Setting Group, Executive Board is also
responsible for the use of resources and
financial performance of all budgetary
units. It has particular responsibility for
value for money.

The principal academic and
administrative officer of the University
is the Vice-Chancellor and President
who has general responsibility for
maintaining and promoting the
efficiency and good order of the
University. Under the terms of the
formal HEFCE Memorandum of
Financial Assurance and Accountability,
the Vice-Chancellor and President
is the accountable officer of the
University. In that capacity the
Vice-Chancellor and the Chair of
Council can be summoned to appear
before the Public Accounts Committee
of the House of Commons. The ViceChancellor and President is also
responsible for assuring the quality and
accuracy of University data provided to
HEFCE, HESA and other public bodies.
As Chief Executive of the University,
the Vice-Chancellor and President
exercises considerable influence
upon the development of institutional
strategy, the identification and planning
of new developments, and shaping
of the institutional ethos. The Deputy
Vice-Chancellor, Pro-Vice-Chancellors
and senior administrative officers all
contribute in various ways to these
aspects of the work, but the ultimate
responsibility for what is done rests
with Council. Members of Executive
Board during 2016–17 were:
Professor Chris Brink
(Vice-Chancellor until 31 December 2016)
Professor Chris Day
(Vice-Chancellor and President with
effect from 1 January 2017)
Professor Tony Stevenson
(Deputy Vice-Chancellor)
Professor Suzanne Cholerton
(Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Learning and
Teaching)
Professor Richard Davies
(Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Engagement
and Internationalisation)
Professor Chris Day
(Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Medical
Sciences until 30 September 2016)
Professor Jane Calvert
(Acting Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Medical
Sciences from 1 October 2016 until
31 January 2017)
Professor David Burn
(Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Medical Sciences
with effect from 1 February 2017)
Professor Julie Sanders
(Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Humanities and
Social Sciences)
Professor Philip Wright
(Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Science,
Agriculture and Engineering)
Professor Nicholas Wright
(Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Research and
Innovation)

Dr John Hogan (Registrar)
Mr Richard Dale
(Executive Director of Finance)
Ms Abi Kelly
(Executive Director of Corporate Affairs)
Mrs Judith Whitaker
(Executive Director of Human Resources
with effect from 10 January 2017)

Managing risk
In common with all organisations
we are affected by a number of risk
factors, not all of which are wholly
within our control. Although some of
the risk factors are macroeconomic
and likely to affect the performance
of the higher education sector as
a whole, others are particular to
Newcastle University. Some risks may
be unknown to us and other risks,
currently regarded as immaterial,
could turn out to be material. All of
them have the potential to impact
our income, expenditure, assets and
liquidity adversely. We have a defined
University-wide risk management
process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant risks faced
by the University. A summary of the
key strategic risks is presented to each
meeting of Council.
One key risk faced by the University
is ensuring the health and safety and
wellbeing of its students, staff and
visitors. Our Health and Safety Policy
formally declares the University’s
commitment and approach to health
and safety and is approved by Council.
The University Health and Safety
Committee is a sub-committee of
Executive Board and includes a lay
member of Council in its membership.
Its role includes consultative oversight
of the development, implementation,
monitoring and review of the of
the University’s Health and Safety
Management System.
2016–17 saw a continuation of the
general downward trend in the total
accident rates for staff and students
over the last five years. The RIDDOR
(Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and
Dangerous Occurrences Regulations)
accident rate for staff and students
also decreased in the year. A review of
the incident management system was
completed in June 2017, the aim was
to make the incident reporting system
easier for users and improving the
learning outcomes from any incidents
which occur. These changes will be
monitored to see what impact they
have on incident rates.

• to ensure that processes are in

Total accident rates for staff and students

place to monitor and evaluate the
performance and effectiveness of
the institution against the plans
and approved key performance
indicators, which should be –
where possible and appropriate
– benchmarked against other
comparable institutions
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accordance with best practice in
HE corporate governance and with
the principles of public life drawn up
by the Committee on Standards in
Public Life

• to safeguard the good name and
values of the institution

Sickness absence rates for the
University as a whole have increased
slightly from 2.2% in 2015/16 to 2.3%.
This may have been influenced by an
increased level of reporting following
the introduction of the revised sickness
absence procedure. The rate for
operational staff of 7.6% remains of
concern and the early involvement of
managers and Occupational Health
are central to reducing this rate.
Reporting of sickness absence has
been improved and an App is being
developed that will make absence
notification easier, auto-populate our IT
systems, remove the need for monthly
absence returns, increase sickness
absence visibility for managers and
provide real-time reporting.

Council: Statement
of Primary
Responsibilities
Council is the supreme governing
body of the University, subject to the
provisions of the University’s statutes.
The primary responsibilities of Council
have been revised in light of the
statement of primary responsibilities
taken from The Higher Education Code
of Governance published in December
2014 and are as follows:

• to approve the mission and strategic
vision of the institution, long-term
academic and business plans and
key performance indicators, and to
ensure that these meet the interests
of stakeholders

• to appoint the head of the institution
as chief executive, and to put in
place suitable arrangements for
monitoring his/her performance

• to appoint a Secretary to the

governing body and to ensure that, if
the person appointed has managerial
responsibilities in the institution, there
is an appropriate separation in the
lines of accountability

• to be the employing authority for

all staff in the institution and to be
responsible for establishing a human
resources strategy

• to be the principal financial and

business authority of the institution,
to ensure that proper books of
account are kept, to approve
the annual budget and financial
statements, and to have overall
responsibility for the institution’s
assets, property and estate
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• to be the institution’s legal authority

and, as such, to ensure that
systems are in place for meeting
all the institution’s legal obligations,
including those arising from contracts
and other legal commitments made
in the institution’s name

• to receive assurance that adequate
provision has been made for the
general welfare of students

• to act as trustee for any property,

legacy, endowment, bequest or gift
in support of the work and welfare of
the institution

• to ensure that the institution’s

constitution is followed at all times
and that appropriate advice is
available to enable this to happen

Responsibilities
of Council in the
Preparation of
the Financial
Statements
In accordance with the University’s
statutes, Council is responsible for the
administration and management of the
affairs of the University and is required
to present audited financial statements
for each financial year.
Council is responsible for keeping
proper accounting records, which
disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of
the University and to enable it to
ensure that the financial statements

are prepared in accordance with the
University’s statutes, the Statement of
Recommended Practice – Accounting
for Further and Higher Education
Institutions and other relevant
accounting standards. In addition,
within the terms and conditions of the
Memorandum of Financial Assurance
and Accountability agreed between
HEFCE and the University, Council,
through its accountable officer, is
required to prepare financial statements
for each financial year, which give a
true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the University and of the surplus or
deficit and cash flows for that year.
In causing the financial statements to
be prepared, Council has ensured that:

• suitable accounting policies are

selected and applied consistently

• judgements and estimates are made
that are reasonable and prudent

• applicable accounting standards

have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and
explained in the financial statements

• financial statements are prepared on
the going concern basis

Council has taken reasonable steps to:

• ensure that funds from HEFCE

are used only for the purposes for
which they have been given and in
accordance with the Memorandum
of Financial Assurance and
Accountability with the Funding
Council and any other conditions
which the Funding Council may from
time to time prescribe

• ensure that there are appropriate

financial and management controls
in place to safeguard public funds
and funds from other sources

• safeguard the assets of the
University and prevent and
detect fraud

• secure the economical, efficient
and effective management of
the University’s resources and
expenditure

Statement on
Internal Control
Council has responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of
internal control that supports the
achievement of policies, aims and
objectives, while safeguarding the
public and other funds and assets
for which it is responsible. This is in
accordance with the responsibilities
assigned to the governing body
in the Universities of Durham and
Newcastle upon Tyne Act 1963 and the
Memorandum of Financial Assurance
and Accountability with HEFCE. It
is designed to manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
policies, aims and objectives. It can,
therefore, only provide reasonable and
not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
The key elements of the University’s
system of internal control, which
is designed to discharge the
responsibilities set out above, include
the following:
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• clear definitions of, and the authority
delegated to, heads of academic
units and heads of administrative
services

• a comprehensive medium- and

short-term planning process,
supplemented by detailed annual
income, expenditure, capital and
cash flow budgets

• clearly defined and formalised

requirements for approval and
control of expenditure

• comprehensive Financial

Regulations, detailing financial
controls and procedures, approved
by Council and Finance Committee

• key performance and risk indicators,

which are monitored by the senior
management team (through
Executive Board) on a regular basis.
Appropriate action is taken to
address performance issues and the
outcome reported to Council

• an ongoing process designed to

identify the principal risks (whether
business, operational, compliance
or financial) to the achievement
of policies, aims and objectives,
to evaluate the nature and extent
of those risks and to manage
them efficiently, effectively and
economically. The reporting method
uses a system whereby risks are
ranked in terms of likelihood and
impact and are reviewed and
reported to Council to assure it
that procedures are in place for the
identified risks to be managed

Council is of the view that the
University’s process for identifying,
evaluating and managing its significant
risks is embedded into ongoing
operations and has been in place for
the year ended 31 July 2017 and up to
the date of the approval of the financial
statements.
The system of internal control is
regularly reviewed by Council and
accords with the internal control
guidance for directors in the Combined
Code as deemed appropriate for
higher education. It is informed also
by a professional Internal Audit team,
which complies with the professional
standards of the Chartered Institute of
Internal Auditors. Senior management
and Audit Committee have also
reviewed the performance of Internal
Audit and are satisfied with it.
The Internal Audit strategy and plan
is approved by the Audit, Risk and
Assurance Committee and endorsed
by Council. The senior management
team and Audit, Risk and Assurance
Committee receive regular internal
audit reports, which include
recommendations for improvement.
Internal Audit provides an annual report
to Council, which includes an opinion
on the adequacy and effectiveness
of the University’s system of internal
control, including risk management,
corporate governance, internal control
and value for money.

Public Disclosure
Council membership, agenda,
unreserved papers and minutes are
all made publicly available on the
University website.

Disclosure of
Information to
the Auditor
So far as each person who was a
member of Council at the date of
approving this report is aware, there
is no relevant audit information, being
information needed by the auditor in
connection with preparing its report, of
which the auditor is unaware. Having
made enquiries of fellow members of
Council and the University’s auditor, the
members of Council have taken all the
steps that they are obliged to take as
members of Council in order to make
themselves aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the
auditor is aware of that information.

INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE COUNCIL OF NEWCASTLE UNIVERSITY
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Opinion

Basis for opinion

Other information

We have audited the financial
statements of Newcastle University for
the year ended 31 July 2017 which
comprise the Statement of Principal
Accounting Policies, the Consolidated
and University Statement of
Comprehensive Income, the
Consolidated and University Statement
of Changes in Reserves, the
Consolidated and University Balance
Sheet, the Consolidated Cash Flow
Statement and the related notes 1 to
29, including a summary of significant
accounting policies. The financial
reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is
applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United
Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice), including
FRS 102 ‘The Financial Reporting
Standard applicable in the UK’.

We conducted our audit in accordance
with International Standards on
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable
law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements section of our
report below. We are independent of
the University in accordance with the
ethical requirements that are relevant to
our audit of the financial statements in
the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical
Standard, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

The other information comprises the
information included in the annual
report, other than the financial
statements and our auditor’s report
thereon. The University Council is
responsible for the other information.

In our opinion the financial statements:

• give a true and fair view of the state

of the Group’s and of the University’s
affairs as at 31 July 2017 and of the
Group’s and the University’s income
and expenditure, gains and losses,
changes in reserves and the Group’s
cash flows for the year then ended

• have been properly prepared in

accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, including FRS 102 ‘The
Financial Reporting Standard
applicable in the UK’; and

• have been properly prepared in

accordance with the Statement of
Recommended Practice: Accounting
for Further and Higher Education

We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going
concern
We have nothing to report in respect of
the following matters in relation to
which the ISAs (UK) require us to report
to you where:

• the University Council’s use of the

going concern basis of accounting
in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

• the University Council has not

disclosed in the financial statements
any identified material uncertainties
that may cast significant doubt about
the University’s ability to continue
to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting for a period of at least
12 months from the date when the
financial statements are authorised
for issue

Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information
and, except to the extent otherwise
explicitly stated in this report, we do not
express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the
financial statements, our responsibility
is to read the other information and, in
doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If we identify such material
inconsistencies or apparent material
misstatements, we are required to
determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial
statements or a material misstatement
of the other information. If, based on
the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material
misstatement of the other information,
we are required to report that fact.
We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Opinion on other matters
prescribed by the Higher
Education Funding Council for
England Audit Code of practice
In our opinion, in all material respects:

• funds from whatever source

administered by Newcastle
University for specific purposes
have been properly applied to
those purposes and managed in
accordance with relevant legislation

• funds provided by HEFCE have

been applied in accordance with
the Memorandum of Assurance and
Accountability and any other terms
and conditions applied to them; and

• the requirements of the Higher

Education Funding Council for
England’s Accounts Direction to
higher education institutions for the
relevant year’s financial statements
have been met

Responsibilities of the
University Council
As explained more fully in the
Responsibilities of Council in the
Preparation of the Financial Statements
set out on pages 47 and 48, the
University Council is responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements
and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view, and for such internal
control as the University Council
determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error. In
preparing the financial statements, the
University Council is responsible for
assessing the University’s ability to

continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting
unless the University Council either
intend to liquidate the University or to
cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities
for the audit of the financial
statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial
statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or
error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these
financial statements.
This report is made solely to the
University Council of Newcastle
University, as a body, in accordance
with paragraph 15 of the Charters and
Statutes of the University. Our audit
work has been undertaken so that we
might state to the charity’s trustees
those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditor’s report and for no
other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other
than Newcastle University and the

University Council as a body, for our
audit work, for this report, or for the
opinions we have formed. A further
description of our responsibilities for
the audit of the financial statements is
located on the Financial Reporting
Council’s website at www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This
description forms part of our
auditor’s report.
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Ernst & Young LLP
Statutory Auditor
Edinburgh
16 October 2017
Ernst & Young LLP is eligible to act as
an auditor in terms of section 1212 of
the Companies Act 2006.
The maintenance and integrity of
Newcastle University’s website is the
responsibility of the University Council;
the work carried out by the auditors
does not involve consideration of these
matters and, accordingly, the auditors
accept no responsibility for any
changes that may have occurred to the
financial statements since they were
initially presented on the website.
Legislation in the United Kingdom
governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements
may differ from legislation in other
jurisdictions.

STATEMENT OF PRINCIPAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
52

1. Basis of preparation

3. Income recognition

These financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with the
Statement of Recommended Practice
(SORP) – Accounting for Further
and Higher Education 2015 and in
accordance with Financial Reporting
Standard 102 (FRS 102). The financial
statements are prepared under the
historical cost convention (modified
by the revaluation of endowment
asset investments). They conform to
the guidance published by the Higher
Education Funding Council for England.

Income from the sale of goods or
services is credited to the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income
when the goods or services are
supplied to the external customers or
the terms of the contract have been
satisfied.

2. Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements
consolidate the results of the University
and all subsidiary undertakings for the
financial year to 31 July 2017. Intragroup transactions are eliminated on
consolidation.
Details of the University’s subsidiary
and associated undertakings,
investment in joint ventures and other
investments are provided in notes
14–16 of the financial statements.
Associated undertakings and joint
ventures are accounted for using the
equity method.

Fee income is stated gross of any
expenditure which is not a discount
and credited to the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income
over the period in which students are
studying. Where the amount of the
tuition fee is reduced, by a discount for
prompt payment, income receivable is
shown net of the discount. Bursaries
and scholarships are accounted for
gross as expenditure and not deducted
from income.
Funds the University receives and
disburses as paying agent on behalf
of a funding body are excluded from
the income and expenditure of the
University where the University is
exposed to minimal risk or enjoys
minimal economic benefit related to the
transaction.

The consolidated financial statements
do not include the results of Newcastle
University Students’ Union as it is a
separate company limited by guarantee
in which the University has no financial
interest and no control or significant
influence over its policy decisions.

Grant funding
Grant funding including funding council
recurrent grants, research grants
from government sources and grants
(including research grants) from nongovernment sources are recognised as
income when the University is entitled
to the income and performance related
conditions have been met. Income
received in advance of performance
related conditions being met is
recognised as deferred income within
creditors on the balance sheet and
released to income as the conditions
are met.

The consolidated financial statements
do not include the results of the
University of Newcastle upon Tyne
Development Trust as it is a separate
charity which manages its funds
independently of the University.
Although the University nominates
some of the trustees, it has no control
of the Trust’s decisions.

Donations and endowments
Non-exchange transactions without
performance-related conditions are
donations and endowments. Donations
and endowments with donor imposed
restrictions are recognised in income
when the University is entitled to the
funds. Income is retained within the
restricted reserve until such time that it

Associated undertakings are those in
which the University has a participating
interest and a significant influence over
their commercial and financial policy
decisions.

is utilised in line with such restrictions
at which point the income is released
to general reserves through a reserve
transfer.
Donations with no restrictions are
recognised in income when the
University is entitled to the funds.
Investment income and appreciation
of endowments is recorded in income
in the year in which it arises and as
either restricted or unrestricted income
according to the terms and restrictions
applied to the individual endowment
fund.
There are four main types of donations
and endowments identified within
reserves:

• restricted donations – the donor has
specified that the donation must be
used for a particular objective

• unrestricted permanent endowments
– the donor has specified that the
fund is to be permanently invested
to generate an income stream for the
general benefit of the University

• restricted expendable endowments

– the donor has specified a particular
objective other than the purchase or
construction of tangible fixed assets,
and the University has the power to
use the capital

• restricted permanent endowments

– the donor has specified that the
fund is to be permanently invested
to generate an income stream to be
applied to a particular objective

Income from expendable endowments
is recognised to the extent of the
related expenditure during the year.
Permanent endowments are managed
on a total return basis. The entire
investment return is included in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income
to the extent of the related expenditure
during the year.
Capital grants
Capital grants are recognised in income
when the University is entitled to the
funds subject to any performance
related conditions being met.

4. Accounting for retirement
benefits
The two principal pension schemes for
the University’s staff are the Universities
Superannuation Scheme (USS) and
the University of Newcastle upon Tyne
Retirements Benefits Plan (1971) (RBP)
which is an Exempt Approved Scheme
under the Finance Act 1970. RBP is
a defined benefit scheme. With effect
from 1 October 2016, USS changed
from a defined benefit-only scheme to
a hybrid pension scheme, providing
defined benefits (for all members), as
well as defined contribution benefits.
The assets of both RBP and USS are
held in trustee-administered funds.
Each fund is valued every three years
by professionally qualified independent
actuaries.
A small number of staff remain in other
pension schemes.
The USS is a multi-employer scheme
for which it is not possible to identify
the assets and liabilities to University
members due to the mutual nature of
the scheme. Therefore, as required
by Section 28 of FRS 102 ‘Employee
benefits’, this scheme is accounted
for as if it were a wholly defined
contribution scheme. As a result,
the amount charged to expenditure
represents the contributions payable
to the scheme in respect of the
accounting period.
A liability is recorded within provisions
for the contractual commitment to fund
past deficits within the USS scheme.
The RBP scheme’s assets are included
at market value and scheme liabilities
are measured on an actuarial basis
using the projected unit method; these
liabilities are discounted at the current
rate of return on AA corporate bonds.
The post-retirement benefit surplus or
deficit is included on the University’s
balance sheet, net of the related
amount of deferred tax. Surpluses
are only included to the extent that
they are recoverable through reduced
contributions in the future or through
refunds from the scheme. The current
service cost and any past service costs
are included in expenditure within
staff costs. The interest income on the
scheme’s assets, net of the impact
of the unwinding of the discount on
scheme liabilities, is included within
investment income or interest and
other finance costs. Actuarial gains
and losses are recognised, net of
the related deferred tax, in Other
Comprehensive Income.

5. Employment benefits
Short-term employment benefits such
as salaries and compensated absences
are recognised as an expense in the
year in which the employees render
service to the University. Any unused
benefits are accrued and measured as
the additional amount the University
expects to pay as a result of the
unused entitlement.

6. Maintenance of premises
The University has a rolling long-term
maintenance plan which is reviewed
periodically and forms the basis of the
ongoing maintenance of the estate. The
cost of long-term and routine corrective
maintenance is charged to expenditure
as incurred.

7. Finance leases
Leases in which the University assumes
substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the leased asset are
classified as finance leases. Leased
assets acquired by way of finance lease
and the corresponding lease liabilities
are initially recognised at an amount
equal to the lower of their fair value and
the present value of the minimum lease
payments at inception of the lease.
Minimum lease payments are
apportioned between the finance
charge and the reduction of the
outstanding liability. The finance charge
is allocated to each period during
the lease term so as to produce a
constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability.

8. Operating leases
Costs in respect of operating leases are
charged on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Any lease premiums
or incentives are spread over the
minimum lease term.

9. Foreign currency
University
Transactions denominated in foreign
currencies are recorded at the rate
of exchange ruling at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated into sterling
at year-end rates. Foreign exchange
differences arising on translation are
recognised in surplus or deficit.

Group
The assets and liabilities of foreign
subsidiary undertakings are translated
at the rate of exchange ruling at the
balance sheet date. The revenues
and expenses of foreign subsidiary
undertakings are translated at an
average rate for the year where this
rate approximates to the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates
of the transactions. The exchange
difference arising on the retranslation
of opening net assets is taken to Other
Comprehensive Income. All other
exchange differences are recognised
in surplus or deficit.

10. Fixed assets
Fixed assets are stated at cost /
deemed cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. Freehold land was
revalued to fair value on transition to
the 2015 SORP, and is measured on
the basis of deemed cost, being the
revalued amount at the 31 July 2014
transition date.
Land and buildings
Land and buildings are stated at cost /
deemed cost. Freehold land is not
depreciated as it is considered to have
an indefinite useful life. Buildings and
major refurbishments are depreciated
on a straight line basis over their
expected useful lives to the University,
by components (where appropriate) as
follows:
Structure – 50 years
Fit-out – 20 years
Mechanical/
electrical services – 15 years
Short-leasehold buildings are
depreciated over the shorter of the lease
term and the expected life of the asset.
No depreciation is charged on assets in
the course of construction.
A review for impairment of a fixed asset
is carried out if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the fixed asset may
not be recoverable.
Costs incurred in relation to land
and buildings after initial purchase or
construction, are capitalised to the
extent that they increase the expected
future benefits to the University beyond
their previously assessed standard of
performance.
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Equipment
Equipment costing less than £25,000
per individual item or group of related
items and all software costs are
recognised as expenditure. All other
equipment is capitalised.
Capitalised equipment is stated at cost
and depreciated over its expected
useful life, as follows:
Research vessel – 25 years
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General equipment – 4 to 10 years
Equipment acquired for specific
research projects – project life
(generally 3 years)

Leased equipment – period of lease
Depreciation methods, useful lives and
residual values are reviewed at the date
of preparation of each Balance Sheet.
Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as
expenditure in the period in which they
are incurred. Finance costs which are
directly attributable to the construction
of land and buildings are not capitalised
as part of the cost of those assets.

11. Heritage assets
Where material, heritage assets
purchased on or after 1 August 2007
are measured and recognised at their
cost. Where reliable cost or valuation
information is available assets acquired
prior to 1 August 2007 are included in
fixed assets.

12. Intangible assets
Intangible assets are amortised over
five years representing the remaining
estimated economic life of the assets.
They are subject to periodic impairment
reviews as appropriate.

13. Investments
Non-current asset investments that
are not listed on a recognised stock
exchange are carried at historical cost,
less any provision for impairment in
their value.
Investments in jointly controlled
entities, associates and subsidiaries are
carried at cost less impairment in the
University’s financial statements.

14. Stock
Stock is held at the lower of cost and
net realisable value and is measured
using an average cost formula.

15. Cash, cash equivalents
and short-term liquid deposits
Cash includes cash in hand, net of
overdrafts and deposits repayable on
demand. Deposits are repayable on
demand if they are in practice available
within 24 hours without penalty.
Cash equivalents are short-term, highly
liquid investments that are readily
convertible to known amounts of cash
with insignificant risk of change in
value. Term deposits are deemed to be
cash equivalents if they have a maturity
of three months or less from the date of
placement.
Cash and cash equivalents contain
sums relating to endowment reserves
which bear restrictions regarding use.
Short-term liquid deposits are term
deposits maturing more than three
months after placement.

16. Provisions
Provisions are recognised in the
financial statements when:
(a) the University has a present
obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of a past event;
(b) it is probable that an outflow of
economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation; and
(c) a reliable estimate can be made
of the amount of the obligation
The amount recognised as a provision is
determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that
reflects risks specific to the liability.

17. Accounting for joint
operations, jointly controlled
assets and jointly controlled
operations
The University accounts for its share of
joint ventures using the equity method.
The University accounts for its share
of transactions from joint operations
and jointly controlled assets in the
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

18. Taxation
The University is an exempt charity
within the meaning of Part 3 of the
Charities Act 2011. It is therefore a
charity within the meaning of
Paragraph 1 of Schedule 6 to the
Finance Act 2010 and accordingly,
the University is potentially exempt
from UK corporation tax in respect
of income or capital gains received
within categories covered by Sections
478–488 of the Corporation Tax Act
2010 (CTA 2010) or Section 256 of the
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992,
to the extent that such income or gains
are applied to exclusively charitable
purposes.
Current tax, including UK corporation
tax and foreign tax, is provided at
amounts expected to be paid (or
recovered) using the tax rates and
laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the balance
sheet date.

19. Financial instruments
The University applies the provisions of
Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 102 in full.
The University’s financial assets and
liabilities all meet the criteria for basic
financial instruments prescribed within
FRS 102 – Section 11.8.

20. Reserves
Reserves are classified as restricted or
unrestricted. Restricted endowment
reserves include balances which,
through endowment to the University,
are held as a permanently restricted
fund which the University must hold in
perpetuity.
Other restricted reserves include
balances where the donor has
designated a specific purpose and
therefore the University is restricted in
the use of these funds.

21. Significant estimates
and judgements
In the process of applying these
accounting policies, the University is
required to make certain estimates
and judgements that management
believe are reasonable based on
the information available. Significant
estimates and judgements used in the
preparation of the financial statements
are as follows:

USS pension scheme
FRS 102 makes the distinction
between a Group Plan and a
multi-employer scheme. A Group
Plan consists of a collection of entities
under common control typically with a
sponsoring employer. A multi-employer
scheme is a scheme for entities not
under common control and represents
(typically) an industry-wide scheme
such as that provided by USS.
The accounting for a multi-employer
scheme where the employer has
entered into an agreement with the
scheme that determines how the
employer will fund a deficit results
in the recognition of a liability for the
contributions payable that arise from
the agreement (to the extent that they
relate to the deficit) and the resulting
expense is recognised in the Statement
of Comprehensive Income. Council is
satisfied that the scheme provided by
USS meets the definition of a multiemployer scheme and has therefore
recognised the discounted fair value of
the contractual contributions under the
funding plan in existence at the date of
approving the financial statements.

The single discount rate is the rate
which, if all contributions were
discounted at that rate, would lead
to the same present value as if each
contribution was discounted at the
appropriate spot rate based on the
timing of that contribution. The single
discount rate is sensitive to future
salary increases and there is a range of
rates from 1.85% with no salary growth
to 1.91% with 5% salary growth. The
University’s salary growth is 3.31% and
therefore the rate has been interpolated
to be 1.89%.

The University has used the deficit
modeller provided by the British
Universities Finance Director’s Group
(BUFDG) in order to calculate the
liability. We have applied our own
assumptions:

Impairments
Management make judgements as to
whether any indicators of impairment
are present for any of the University’s
assets.

• future staff increases based on our
five-year forecast with nil growth
after that period

• salary inflation based on CPI plus

1% for the five-year forecast period
with an annual 3% increase after
that period

• discount rate 1.89%

In order to calculate the fair value of
future contributions at the balance
sheet date a discount rate needs
to be applied. However, there is no
single correct discount rate which
should be adopted, as FRS 102 only
requires that the discount rate should
be based on the yield on ‘high quality
corporate bonds’ of a currency and
duration ‘consistent with the currency
and estimated period of the future
payments’. The model used to calculate
the discount rates is the Mercer Yield
Curve UK – Extended Dataset.

RBP pension scheme
The calculation of the plan’s liabilities
involves projecting future cash flows
many years into the future. This means
that the economic and demographic
assumptions used can have a material
impact on the balance sheet provision
and Other Comprehensive Income. For
example, members could live longer
than foreseen or inflation could be
higher or lower than allowed for in the
calculation. The assumptions used by
the actuary are included in note 28 to
the accounts.

Fixed assets
Depreciation is calculated on a straightline basis over the estimated useful
economic lives of the related assets.
Holiday pay
The holiday pay accrual is calculated
using a sample of schools and
departments.
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Consolidated and University Statement of
Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 July 2017

		
		
INCOME
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CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016

Note

£m

£m

£m

£m

Tuition fees and education contracts

1

236.0

220.6

216.8

205.0

Funding body grants

2

69.1

72.7

69.1

72.7

Research grants and contracts

3

107.6

110.2

107.6

110.2

Other income

4

66.3

63.7

68.4

68.7

Investment income

5

3.7

3.2

3.6

3.2

Donations and endowments

6

5.2

5.8

5.2

5.8

487.9

476.2

470.7

465.6

Total income		

						
EXPENDITURE						
Staff costs
7
268.9
257.3
261.7
251.9
Other operating expenses

8

173.7

172.3

172.5

168.7

Depreciation

12

19.1

18.2

18.0

17.3

Amortisation

13

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.1

9

7.1

8.5

4.8

6.7

10

468.9

456.4

457.1

444.7

Interest and other finance costs

Total expenditure

						

Surplus before other gains / losses and share of						
operating deficit of joint ventures and associate		
19.0
19.8
13.6
20.9

					
Gain on disposal of fixed assets		

0.5

–

0.5

–

Gain on investments

21

11.0

2.2

11.0

2.2

Share of operating deficit in joint ventures

15

(2.5)

(2.0)

–

–

Share of operating deficit in associate

16

(0.1)

(0.1)

–

–

					

Surplus before tax		
Taxation

11

27.9

19.9

25.1

23.1

(0.9)

(0.5)

(0.1)

(0.3)

						
Surplus for the year		
27.0
19.4
25.0
22.8
						
Actuarial gain / (loss) in respect of pension scheme
28
34.7
(12.7)
34.7
(12.7)
						
Total comprehensive income for the year		
61.7
6.7
59.7
10.1
						
Represented by:					
Endowment comprehensive income for the year

21

11.8

1.4

11.8

1.4

Restricted comprehensive income for the year

22

(2.7)

(0.1)

(2.7)

(0.1)

Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year		

52.6

5.4

50.6

8.8

						
Attributable to the University		
61.7
6.7
59.7
10.1
						
All items of income and expenditure arise from continuing operations.					
					

Consolidated and University Statement of Changes in Reserves

for the year ended 31 July 2017		

					
Total			
				excluding
Non		
Income and expenditure account
non-controlling controlling		
		
Endowment Restricted Unrestricted
interest
interest
Total
CONSOLIDATED
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m

							
Balance at 1 August 2015
62.0
3.8
289.7
355.5
0.1
355.6
							
Surplus from the income statement
4.6
13.5
1.3
19.4
–
19.4
Other comprehensive income
–
–
(12.7)
(12.7)
–
(12.7)
Release of restricted funds spent
(3.2)
(13.6)
16.8
–
–
–
								

Total comprehensive income
for the year
1.4
(0.1)
5.4
6.7
–
6.7
								
Balance at 1 August 2016
63.4
3.7
295.1
362.2
0.1
362.3

								
Surplus from the income statement
15.3
9.9
1.8
27.0
–
27.0
Other comprehensive income
–
–
34.7
34.7
–
34.7
Release of restricted funds spent
(3.5)
(12.6)
16.1
–
–
–
								

Total comprehensive income
for the year
11.8
(2.7)
52.6
61.7
–
61.7
								
Balance at 31 July 2017
75.2
1.0
347.7
423.9
0.1
424.0

								

					
Total			
				excluding
Non-		
		
Income and expenditure account
non-controlling controlling		
		
Endowment Restricted Unrestricted
interest
interest
Total
UNIVERSITY
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
£m
							
Balance at 1 August 2015
62.0
3.8
293.5
359.3
–
359.3
								
Surplus from the income statement
4.6
13.5
4.7
22.8
–
22.8
Other comprehensive income
–
–
(12.7)
(12.7)
–
(12.7)
Release of restricted funds spent
(3.2)
(13.6)
16.8
–
–
–
								

Total comprehensive income
for the year
1.4
(0.1)
8.8
10.1
–
10.1
								
Balance at 1 August 2016
63.4
3.7
302.3
369.4
–
369.4

								
Surplus from the income statement
15.3
9.9
(0.2)
25.0
–
25.0
Other comprehensive income
–
–
34.7
34.7
–
34.7
Release of restricted funds spent
(3.5)
(12.6)
16.1
–
–
–
								

Total comprehensive income
for the year
11.8
(2.7)
50.6
59.7
–
59.7
								
Balance at 31 July 2017
75.2
1.0
352.9
429.1
–
429.1
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Consolidated and University Balance Sheet			

as at 31 July 2017				

		
		
Note

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

NON-CURRENT ASSETS					
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Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Investments
Investment in joint ventures
Investment in associate

12
13
14
15
16

			

429.8
0.1
73.3
12.7
0.1

333.3
0.2
61.2
11.6
0.2

409.2
0.1
92.4
–
–

312.2
0.2
80.3
–
–

516.0

406.5

501.7

392.7

							
CURRENT ASSETS						
Stocks in hand		
0.1
0.1
0.1
0.1
Trade and other receivables
17
56.8
58.2
56.1
59.0
Short-term liquid deposits		
138.1
185.0
138.1
185.0
Cash and cash equivalents
23
88.2
93.5
81.5
86.9
			

283.2

336.8

275.8

331.0

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE						
WITHIN ONE YEAR
18
(127.0)
(102.5)
(122.4)
(99.2)
							
NET CURRENT ASSETS		
156.2
234.3
153.4
231.8
							
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES		
672.2
640.8
655.1
624.5
							

CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE						
AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR
19
(139.9)
(141.2)
(117.7)
(117.8)

							
PENSION PROVISIONS
20
(108.3)
(137.3)
(108.3)
(137.3)
							
TOTAL NET ASSETS		
424.0
362.3
429.1
369.4
							
RESTRICTED RESERVES						
Income and expenditure reserve – endowment reserve
21
68.7
57.5
68.7
57.5
Income and expenditure reserve – restricted reserve

22

1.0

3.7

1.0

3.7

UNRESTRICTED RESERVES						
Income and expenditure reserve – endowment reserve
21
Income and expenditure reserve – unrestricted reserve		

6.5
347.7

5.9
295.1

6.5
352.9

5.9
302.3

			

423.9

362.2

429.1

369.4

0.1

0.1

–

–

NON-CONTROLLING INTEREST		

							
TOTAL RESERVES		
424.0
362.3
429.1
369.4
							
The financial statements were approved by Council on 16 October 2017 and signed on its behalf by:			
							
							
							

C DAY,
Vice-Chancellor and President

S J LIGHTLEY,
Treasurer

R C DALE,
Executive Director of Finance

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement			

for the year ended 31 July 2017		

			2017
		
Note
£m

2016
£m

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES				
Surplus for the year		

27.0

19.4

Adjustment for non-cash items				
Depreciation
12
19.1
18.2
Amortisation of intangibles
13
0.1
0.1
Gain on investments
21
(11.0)
(2.2)
(Increase)/ decrease in debtors		
(5.0)
5.0
Increase in creditors		
17.3
10.4
Increase in pension provision		
5.7
10.9
Share of operating deficit in joint ventures
15
2.5
2.0
Share of operating deficit in associate
16
0.1
0.1
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Adjustment for investing or financing activities			
Investment income
5
Interest payable		
Loan breakage costs		
Endowment income
21
Profit on the sale of fixed assets		
Capital grant income		

(3.7)
4.2
–
(2.8)
(0.5)
(9.7)

(3.2)
2.1
3.3
(1.1)
–
(11.2)

NET CASH INFLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES		43.3

53.8

					
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES			
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets		
1.1
–
Capital grants receipts		
8.9
10.6
Withdrawal of deposits		
15.9
12.0
Investment income		
3.9
3.1
Profit distribution from joint venture		
0.5
2.8
Payments made to acquire fixed assets		
(108.1)
(39.7)
New non-current asset investments		
–
(0.2)
New deposits		
30.0
(59.4)
			

(47.8)

(70.8)

					
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES			
Interest paid		
(1.9)
(0.5)
Loan breakage costs		
–
(3.3)
Interest element of finance lease		
(1.7)
(1.5)
Endowment cash received
21
2.8
1.1
New unsecured loans		
–
100.0
Repayments of amounts borrowed		
–
(13.8)
			

(0.8)

82.0

					
(DECREASE) / INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS IN THE YEAR
(5.3)
65.0

					
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year
23
93.5
28.5
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year
23
88.2
93.5

Notes to the Financial Statements
1 TUITION FEES AND EDUCATION CONTRACTS
		
		
Full-time students
Full-time students charged overseas fees, UK taught
Full-time students charged overseas fees, overseas taught
Part-time fees
Research training support grants
Short courses
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CONSOLIDATED
2017		
2016
£m		
£m

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

143.7		
65.3		
19.2		
2.7		
2.8		
2.3		

129.6
67.1
15.6
2.6
2.9
2.8

143.7
65.3
–
2.7
2.8
2.3

129.6
67.1
–
2.6
2.9
2.8

236.0		

220.6

216.8

205.0

2 FUNDING BODY GRANTS
CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY
			2017
2016
			£m
£m
HEFCE recurrent grant		
HEFCE specific grants
HEFCE Capital Investment Framework (CIF) grants		
HEFCE other capital grants		

58.8
4.0
6.3
–

59.0
6.8
6.2
0.7

			

69.1

72.7

3 RESEARCH GRANTS AND CONTRACTS
CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY
			2017
2016
			£m
£m
Research Councils		
UK charities		
UK government		
European Commission		
Other grants and contracts		
Research Development Expenditure Credit Scheme		

31.6
26.2
22.4
12.6
14.8
–

32.6
24.3
24.9
14.2
13.3
0.9

			

107.6

110.2

4 OTHER INCOME
		
		
Residences, catering and conferences
Other services rendered
Health authorities
Other capital grants
Other income
Income from subsidiary companies
		

5 INVESTMENT INCOME
		
		
Investment income on endowments (note 21)
Other investment income
		

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

20.6
18.4
8.9
2.4
16.0
–

23.7
15.6
9.9
0.1
14.4
–

20.6
18.4
9.0
2.4
15.1
2.9

23.7
15.6
9.9
0.1
13.6
5.8

66.3

63.7

68.4

68.7

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

1.5
2.2

1.3
1.9

1.5
2.1

1.3
1.9

3.7

3.2

3.6

3.2

6 DONATIONS AND ENDOWMENTS
CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY		
			2017
2016
			£m
£m
New endowments net of transfers out from expendable endowments (note 21)		
Donations with restrictions		

2.8
2.4

1.1
4.7

			

5.2

5.8

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
7 STAFF		
		
Staff Costs

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m

UNIVERSITY
2017
2016
£m
£m

201.8
20.5
43.8

192.9
17.2
39.4

194.7
20.4
43.8

187.6
17.1
39.4

		
Movement on USS provision (note 20)
RBP Pension service cost adjustment (note 20)

266.1
(4.8)
7.6

249.5
3.4
4.4

258.9
(4.8)
7.6

244.1
3.4
4.4

		

268.9

257.3

261.7

251.9

Salaries
Social security costs
Other pension costs

			
Prof C Brink
Prof C Day
Total
Prof C Brink
			
2017
2017
2017
2016
			
£’000
£’000
£’000
£’000
Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor: 					
Salary
104.1
171.7
275.8
248.0
Benefits in kind
4.7
–
4.7
4.1
			
Pension contributions

108.8
29.2

171.7
46.4

280.5
75.6

252.1
64.8

			

138.0

218.1

356.1

316.9

		Professor Chris Brink retired on 31 December 2016 and was replaced by Professor Chris Day. 				
Remuneration of higher paid staff, excluding the Vice-Chancellor and employer’s pension
contributions (clinical staff numbers, included in these totals, are shown in brackets):

       2017

Number

2016
Number

£100,000–£109,999
35 (16)
20 (12)
£110,000–£119,999
17
(9)
20
(7)
£120,000–£129,999
15
(8)
13
(8)
£130,000–£139,999
12
(4)
16
(9)
7
(7)
14 (12)
£140,000–£149,999
£150,000–£159,999
10
(8)		9
(8)
£160,000–£169,999
7
(7)		5
(5)
£170,000–£179,999
7
(6)		6
(5)
7
(7)		5
(5)
£180,000–£189,999
£190,000–£199,999
5
(5)		5
(5)
3
(2)		1
(1)
£200,000–£209,999
£210,000–£219,999
1
(1)		4
(4)
£250,000–£259,999				
1
(1)
–
–
		
126		
119
Aggregate termination payments for compensation for loss of office for one (2016: none) senior member of staff earning in excess
of £100,000 per annum were £64,440. These costs were internally funded by the University and approved by the Remuneration
Committee.

Staff Numbers		2017			 2016
Average FTEs
Average FTEs
Academic		
Support		
Research		

1,527
2,941
1,049

1,448
2,839
1,030

			

5,517

5,317

Key Management Personnel						
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of
the University. Staff costs includes compensation paid to key management personnel. The University defines key management personnel
as the members of its Executive Board. For the year ended 31 July 2017, Executive Board consisted of 12 full-time members of staff
(2016: 11) including the Vice-Chancellor. In addition, and for the year ended 31 July 2017 only, the three-month post of Vice-Chancellor
Elect was included in the membership.							

		2017			2016		
		£m			£m		
Key management personnel compensation:							
Salary and benefits (including employer’s pension contributions)
2.1
2.0
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8

62

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

CONSOLIDATED
UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016		2017
2016
£m
£m		£m
£m

		Professional fees and bought in services
Staff-related expenditure
Student scholarships, bursaries and prizes
Consumables and laboratory expenditure
Non-capitalised equipment purchases and maintenance
Operating lease rentals – land and buildings
Rents, rates and insurance
Heat, light, water and power
Building maintenance
Books and periodicals
NHS and agency staff
Communications, advertising and publicity
Students’ Union annual subvention
Other expenditure
			

37.5
25.6
24.8
18.1
22.1
8.1
5.0
8.9
7.5
6.4
4.9
2.3
1.9
0.6
173.7

34.9		
23.7		
24.0		
19.2		
21.8		
7.6		
4.6		
9.2		
9.8		
6.2		
5.3		
2.4		
2.0		
1.6		

36.4
24.7
24.7
17.6
21.1
8.0
3.3
8.5
7.5
6.5
4.8
1.9
1.9
5.6

34.1
23.1
23.9
18.8
21.4
7.6
3.1
8.8
9.8
6.2
5.3
2.0
2.0
2.6

172.3		 172.5

168.7

Professional fees and bought in services include auditor’s remuneration in respect of audit services for the Group of £105,600 to
Ernst & Young LLP (2016: £96,508) and for the University of £55,070 (2016: £57,440). In respect of non-audit services (mainly
grant certification work and SORP conversion work in 2016) remuneration amounted to £33,000 (2016: £63,600) for the Group
and University. 						
					

9 INTEREST AND OTHER FINANCE COSTS
		
		

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m

Loan interest
Loan breakage costs
Finance lease interest
Net charge on pension schemes (note 28)
		

10		ANALYSIS OF 2016–17 EXPENDITURE BY ACTIVITY
			
		
Staff
		
Costs
		
£m

Other
Operating
Expenses
£m

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

1.9
–
2.3
2.9

0.3
3.3
1.8
3.1

1.9
–
–
2.9

0.3
3.3
–
3.1

7.1

8.5

4.8

6.7

CONSOLIDATED			
Depreciation
Interest and		
and Other Finance		
Amortisation
Costs
Total
£m
£m
£m

Academic schools
Academic services
Administration and central services
Premises
Residences, catering and conferences
Research grants and contracts
Other expenditure

149.3
22.2
24.3
9.5
4.3
52.3
7.0

41.7
16.7
39.6
29.6
9.1
36.7
0.3

3.4
1.2
0.1
11.0
1.4
–
2.1

–
–
–
2.3
–
–
4.8

194.4
40.1
64.0
52.4
14.8
89.0
14.2

Total per Statement of Comprehensive Income

268.9

173.7

19.2

7.1

468.9

	Administration and central services and research grants and contracts include £22.2m (2016: £21.3m) and £2.6m (2016: £2.7m)
respectively in respect of payments made for bursaries, prizes, scholarships or other similar awards.			
						
				

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
10		ANALYSIS OF 2016–17 EXPENDITURE BY ACTIVITY		
(continued)		
Other
		
Staff
Operating
		
Costs
Expenses
		
£m
£m
Academic schools
Academic services
Administration and central services
Premises
Residences, catering and conferences
Research grants and contracts
Other expenditure

142.1
22.2
24.3
9.5
4.3
52.3
7.0

UNIVERSITY			
Depreciation
Interest and		
and Other Finance		
Amortisation
Costs
Total
£m
£m
£m

37.6
16.7
39.5
27.9
9.1
36.7
5.0

3.1
1.2
0.1
10.2
1.4
–
2.1

–
–
–
–
–
–
4.8

182.8
40.1
63.9
47.6
14.8
89.0
18.9

Total per Statement of Comprehensive Income
261.7
172.5
18.1
4.8
457.1
							
	Administration and central services and research grants and contracts include £22.2m (2016: £21.3m) and £2.6m (2016: £2.7m)
respectively in respect of payments made for bursaries, prizes, scholarships or other similar awards.			
					

11 TAXATION
		
		

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m

Republic of Singapore corporation tax at 17%
Republic of Singapore withholding tax at 17%
Malaysian corporation tax at 24%
United Kingdom corporation tax at average rate of 21%
		

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

0.4
0.1
0.4
–

0.2
0.1
–
0.2

–
0.1
–
–

–
0.1
–
0.2

0.9

0.5

0.1

0.3

United Kingdom corporation tax arose wholly from the research development expenditure credit scheme. 			
					

12 FIXED ASSETS
		
		
		
		
Cost

Balance at 1 August 2016
Additions
Foreign exchange retranslation
Transfers from assets under construction
Disposals

CONSOLIDATED
Land and Buildings
Leasehold
Assets under
Freehold
Long
Short
Construction
£m
£m
£m
£m
266.0
–
–
21.0
(0.8)

144.2
–
(1.1)
7.9
–

20.8
1.4
–
–
–

30.0
103.5
–
(28.9)
–

Equipment		Total
£m		£m
84.0		545.0
12.4		117.3
–		 (1.1)
–		
–
(1.9)		 (2.7)

Balance at 31 July 2017
286.2
151.0
22.2
104.6
94.5		658.5
									
Depreciation								
Balance at 1 August 2016
74.9
59.9
7.7
–
69.2		211.7
Charge for year
6.3
4.7
1.4
–
6.7		 19.1
Eliminated on disposals
(0.2)
–
–
–
(1.9)		 (2.1)
Balance at 31 July 2017
81.0
64.6
9.1
–
74.0		228.7
									
Net Book Value								
At 31 July 2017
205.2
86.4
13.1
104.6
20.5		429.8
At 1 August 2016
191.1
84.3
13.1
30.0
14.8		333.3
									
At 31 July 2017, freehold land and buildings included £76.2m (2016: £76.4m) in respect of freehold land which is not depreciated.
		The net book value of assets held under finance leases at 31 July 2017 is £19.3m (2016: £21.2m) and the related depreciation 		
charge for the year was £0.8m (2016: £0.8m).								
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12 FIXED ASSETS (continued)
		
		
		
		
Cost
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Balance at 1 August 2016
Additions
Transfers from assets under construction
Disposals

UNIVERSITY
Land and Buildings
Leasehold
Freehold
Long
Short
£m
£m
£m
265.9
–
21.0
(0.8)

120.6
–
7.9
–

20.8
–
–
–

Assets under
Construction
£m

Equipment		Total
£m		£m

30.0
103.5
(28.9)
–

82.9		520.2
12.1		115.6
–		
–
(1.9)		 (2.7)

Balance at 31 July 2017
286.1
128.5
20.8
104.6
93.1		633.1
									
Depreciation								
Balance at 1 August 2016
74.9
57.5
7.7
–
67.9		208.0
Charge for year
6.3
3.9
1.2
–
6.6		 18.0
Eliminated on disposals
(0.2)
–
–
–
(1.9)		 (2.1)
Balance at 31 July 2017
81.0
61.4
8.9
–
72.6		223.9
									
Net Book Value								
At 31 July 2017
205.1
67.1
11.9
104.6
20.5		409.2
At 1 August 2016
191.0
63.1
13.1
30.0
15.0		312.2
								
The University holds a number of collections, exhibits and artefacts, most of which have been donated or bequeathed to the 		
University. These assets are not considered Heritage Assets as defined in the SORP and therefore have no value attributed to 		
them in the financial statements.								
			

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS
		
		

CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY
2017
2016
£m
£m

Cost				
Balance at 1 August
Additions

0.4
–

0.4
–

Balance at 31 July

0.4

0.4

Amortisation				
Balance at 1 August
Charge for year

0.2
0.1

0.1
0.1

Balance at 31 July
0.3
0.2
					
Net Book Value
0.1
0.2
Intangible assets represent costs incurred for open access to a suite of cloud-based software packages.					
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14 NON-CURRENT INVESTMENTS
		

Shares in subsidiary undertakings at cost less amounts written off
At 1 August
Additions
At 31 July

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m
–
–

–
–

–

–

UNIVERSITY
2017
2016
£m
£m
3.7
15.4

3.7
–

19.1

3.7

Other investments other than loans at cost					
At 1 August
0.1
0.1
15.5
16.1
(Disposals) / additions Newcastle Science Central LLP
–
–
(15.4)
0.1
Other movements in year
–
–
–
(0.7)
At 31 July

0.1

0.1

0.1

15.5

Fixed interest stock and equities relating to endowments

73.2

61.1

73.2

61.1

Total fixed asset investments

73.3

61.2

92.4

80.3
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Shares In Subsidiary Undertakings
	Details of the companies, all registered in England and Wales (unless otherwise stated), in which Newcastle University holds an

interest are as follows:
		
Holding of Ordinary		
Name of Company
Shares %
Nature of Business
NUMed Malaysia sdn bhd
100
A company incorporated in Malaysia for the provision of		
			
tertiary courses focusing on medical education.		
NUInternational Singapore pte Limited
100
A company incorporated in Singapore for collaborative 		
			
teaching and research.
Newcastle Research & Innovation
100
A company incorporated in Singapore for postgraduate
Institute pte Ltd		
teaching and research.
Newcastle University Holdings Limited
100
Operates as a holding company only.		
Newcastle University Ventures Limited
100
Provides support for the commercial development of research		
			
and consultancy.		
University of Newcastle upon Tyne Supply
100
Provides construction services to the University.		
Company Limited
Newcastle University Pension
100
Provides a corporate trusteeship for the University
Trustee (1971) Limited
Retirement Benefits Plan.		
Newcastle ISC Limited
100
Acts as a holding company for the joint ventures INTO Newcastle		
			
University LLP and INTO Newcastle University London LLP.		
Newcastle University Enterprises Limited (*)
100
This company is dormant.		
NUINTO Limited
51
Provides the teaching of English language skills.
(*) For the year ended 31 July 2017 Newcastle University Enterprises Limited (CRN:06331269) was exempt from the requirement
to prepare individual accounts by virtue of section 394A of the Companies Act 2006 relating to dormant subsidiaries.

University Membership in Companies Limited by Guarantee

Centre for Innovation Excellence in Livestock
The Russell Group								
Centre for Crop Health and Protection
Newcastle Science Company Limited
The Academic Health Science Network for the
Universities UK
North East and North Cumbria
North East Universities Purchasing Consortium (NEUPC)

Other Investments Other Than Loans
Voting rights		
		
%		
				
CVCP Properties PLC
Newcastle Science Central LLP

1.3		
50.0		

			

CONSOLIDATED
2017		 2016
£m		
£m
0.1		
–		

0.1
–

0.1

0.1

UNIVERSITY
2017		 2016
£m		 £m
0.1		
–		

0.1
15.4

0.1

15.5

	The University has direct minor shareholdings in a number of other companies, including spin outs, which are not material
to these financial statements. Shares in associated undertakings and other investments held by subsidiary companies are
disclosed in the financial statements of those companies. The University has 11.94% and 4.5% of the voting rights in the
North East Seed Capital Fund LP and the North East Seed Capital Fund two, respectively.			
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15 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES
INTO Newcastle University LLP is a joint venture between the University and INTO University Partnerships Limited. A 50% share
of the LLP’s net assets and liabilities is included in the University’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and 50% of its operating profit or
loss is reported in the University’s Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. INTO Newcastle University LLP’s principal
activity is the provision of pre-University education and residential accommodation for international students. At the year end an
amount of £122,000 (2016: £480) was due from INTO Newcastle University LLP to the University. 			
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INTO Newcastle University London LLP is a joint venture between the University and INTO University Partnerships Limited. A 50%
share of the LLP’s net assets and liabilities is included in the University’s Consolidated Balance Sheet and 50% of its operating
profit or loss is reported in the University’s Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. INTO Newcastle University London
LLP’s principal activity is the provision of education and residential accommodation for students. At the year end an amount of
£4,128,467 (2016: £3,242,689) was due from INTO Newcastle University London LLP to the University.			
				
Newcastle Science Central LLP is a joint venture between the University and Newcastle City Council. The principal activity of
the joint venture is the sale and lease of land for the development of the Science Central site in Newcastle. During the year, the
majority of this land, excepting four plots, was transferred into Newcastle Science Central Management LLP, which is also a joint
venture with Newcastle City Council. A 37% share of the losses of both LLPs to date is reported in the University’s Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income and the University’s interest in the net assets and liabilities of both LLPs is included in the
University’s Consolidated Balance Sheet. At the year end an amount of £5,397,759 (2016: £483,500) and £1,778,394 (2016: nil)
was due from Newcastle Science Central LLP and Newcastle Science Central Management LLP respectively to the University.		
				
		2017
2016
			£m
£m

Share of income:				
INTO Newcastle University LLP		
INTO Newcastle University London LLP		

10.5
2.1

11.3
1.0

			

12.6

12.3

Share of operating (deficit) / surplus:			
INTO Newcastle University LLP		
INTO Newcastle University London LLP		
Newcastle Science Central LLP		

(0.1)
(2.1)
(0.3)

1.4
(2.5)
(0.9)

			

(2.5)

(2.0)

Share of gross assets:				
INTO Newcastle University LLP		
INTO Newcastle University London LLP		
Newcastle Science Central LLP		
Newcastle Science Central Management LLP		

10.6
1.9
2.9
12.6

8.0
1.4
15.4
–

			

28.0

24.8

Share of gross liabilities:				
INTO Newcastle University LLP		
INTO Newcastle University London LLP		
Newcastle Science Central LLP		

(10.4)
(3.2)
(1.7)

(7.2)
(4.6)
(1.4)

			

(15.3)

(13.2)

Share of net assets / (liabilities):				
INTO Newcastle University LLP		
INTO Newcastle University London LLP		
Newcastle Science Central LLP		
Newcastle Science Central Management LLP		

0.2
(1.3)
1.2
12.6

0.8
(3.2)
14.0
–

			

12.7

11.6

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
16	INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATE			

	The University has a 24% holding in Tyne Subsea Limited, whose principal activity is the creation of a Centre of
Excellence for Hyperbaric Testing in the Newcastle area. This holding has been treated as an associated undertaking.
A 24% share of the company’s losses to date is reported in the University’s Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income and a 24% share of the company’s net assets is shown in the University’s Consolidated Balance Sheet.
At the year end an amount of £500,000 (2016: £500,000) was due from Tyne Subsea Limited to the University.		
				
		
2017
2016
		£m
£m
Share of operating deficit		

(0.1)

(0.1)

Share of gross assets		
Share of gross liabilities		

1.8
(1.7)

1.8
(1.6)

Share of net assets		

0.1

0.2

17 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
		
		
Research grants receivables
Other trade receivables
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Prepayments and accrued income
Other debtors
		

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m
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UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

15.3
20.5
–
14.5
6.5

14.0
18.0
–
21.9
4.3

15.3
20.2
3.8
10.9
5.9

14.0
17.7
7.1
19.4
0.8

56.8

58.2

56.1

59.0

						
Contained within consolidated other debtors is an amount of £500,000 (2016: £500,000) due from Tyne Subsea Limited which is
repayable after more than one year. 					
					

18 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN
ONE YEAR
		
Obligations under finance leases (note 26)
Research collaborator creditors
Other creditors
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings
Social security and other taxation payable
Accruals and deferred income
		

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

1.9
17.2
5.5
–
7.5
94.9

1.9
9.3
7.2
–
6.8
77.3

–
17.2
5.5
9.2
7.4
83.1

–
9.3
7.2
–
6.6
76.1

127.0

102.5

122.4

99.2

Deferred income					

Included within accruals and deferred income are the following items of income which have been deferred until specific 		
performance-related conditions have been met.					
						

		
		
Research grants received on account
Tuition fees and education contracts
Funding body grants
Other income
Donations
		

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

36.1
1.5
1.8
9.3
0.1

33.9
3.0
0.6
7.2
0.1

36.1
1.3
1.8
9.3
0.1

33.9
2.9
0.6
7.2
0.1

48.8

44.8

48.6

44.7

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
19 CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE
AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR
		
Fixed-term, unsecured loans repayable by 2046
Accruals and deferred income
Obligations under finance leases (note 26)
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CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

100.0
17.7
22.2

100.0
17.8
23.4

100.0
17.7
–

100.0
17.8
–

139.9

141.2

117.7

117.8

		
			

CONSOLIDATED
AND UNIVERSITY

Effective

The fixed-term unsecured loan is repayable in accordance		
with the following profile:		

Interest Rate

%

2017

2016

£m

£m

Infrastructure and refurbishment loan due after one year but not more than five years

1.87

4.0

–

Infrastructure and refurbishment loan due after more than five years		

1.87

96.0

100.0

					

20 PENSION PROVISIONS		CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY		
		
Obligations to
RBP defined
Total
		
fund deficit on
benefit
pension
		
USS Pension
obligation
provisions
		
(note 28)
(note 28)		
		
£m
£m
£m
At 1 August 2016
(Decrease) / increase in staff costs
Pension finance interest charge
Actuarial gain

48.9
(4.8)
0.9
–

88.4
7.6
2.0
(34.7)

137.3
2.8
2.9
(34.7)

At 31 July 2017

45.0

63.3

108.3

					

USS deficit

The obligation to fund the past deficit on the Universities Superannuation Scheme (USS) arises from the contractual obligation 		
with the pension scheme for total payments relating to benefits arising from past performance.		

Management have assessed future employees within the USS scheme and salary payment over the period of the contracted 		
obligation in assessing the value of this provision. 				
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21 ENDOWMENT RESERVES
		
		
		

CONSOLIDATED AND UNIVERSITY
2017
Total
£m

2016
Total
£m

At 1 August 						
Capital
2.7
17.0
19.7
12.9
32.6
Unapplied return
3.2
20.3
23.5
7.3
30.8

30.4
31.6

		

Unrestricted Restricted
Total Restricted
Permanent Permanent Permanent Expendable
£m
£m
£m
£m

5.9

37.3

43.2

20.2

63.4

62.0

–
–
1.0

0.4
–
6.5

0.4
–
7.5

2.4
–
3.5

2.8
–
11.0

2.2
(1.1)
2.2

		

1.0

6.9

7.9

5.9

13.8

3.3

Income
Expenditure

0.1
(0.5)

0.9
(1.6)

1.0
(2.1)

0.5
(1.4)

1.5
(3.5)

1.3
(3.2)

(0.4)

(0.7)

(1.1)

(0.9)

(2.0)

(1.9)

New endowments
Transfer out from expendable endowments
Increase in market value of investments
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At 31 July
6.5
43.5
50.0
25.2
75.2
63.4
Represented by:							
Capital
2.7
17.4
20.1
15.3
35.4
32.6
Unapplied return
3.8
26.1
29.9
9.9
39.8
30.8
		

6.5

43.5

50.0

25.2

75.2

63.4

Analysis by type of purpose:							
Regional Chairs Benefaction
Chairs, fellowships, lectureships
Research support
Lectures
Scholarships and bursaries
Prizes and travel awards
General

		

–
–
–
–
–
–
6.5

22.5
6.3
1.0
–
8.1
3.0
2.6

22.5
6.3
1.0
–
8.1
3.0
9.1

–
2.3
5.1
0.8
12.8
1.9
2.3

22.5
8.6
6.1
0.8
20.9
4.9
11.4

19.5
6.9
4.7
1.3
16.5
4.3
10.2

6.5

43.5

50.0

25.2

75.2

63.4

								
The Regional Chairs Benefaction is an endowment which funds medical school posts.					
							
Analysis by asset							
Fixed interest stock and equities					
73.2
61.1
Bank balances					
1.8
4.1
Other current balances					
0.2
(1.8)
						
75.2
63.4

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
22 RESTRICTED RESERVES
		
		
		

Reserves with restrictions are as follows:

Unspent				
HEFCE CIF				
and other Grants and
2017
2016
capital grants
donations
Total
Total
£m
£m
£m
£m

Balances at 1 August 2016
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2.8

0.9

3.7

3.8

7.4
1.3
(11.1)
–

0.1
1.1
–
(1.5)

7.5
2.4
(11.1)
(1.5)

8.8
4.7
(11.9)
(1.7)

Total restricted comprehensive income for the year

(2.4)

(0.3)

(2.7)

(0.1)

At 31 July 2017

0.4

0.6

1.0

3.7

New grants
New donations
Capital grants utilised
Expenditure

23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
		
		
Cash at bank and in hand
Endowment bank balances
Investments maturing less than three months after placement
		

CONSOLIDATED
2017
2016
£m
£m

UNIVERSITY 		
2017
2016
£m
£m

25.2
1.8
61.2

53.0
4.1
36.4

18.5
1.8
61.2

46.4
4.1
36.4

88.2

93.5

81.5

86.9

24 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

CONSOLIDATED
AND UNIVERSITY

			
			

2017
£m

2016
£m

Commitments contracted at 31 July 		

59.3

64.6

25 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The University has eight nomination agreements relating to student accommodation. The expiry dates and nominated rooms are:		
2017–18 1,100 beds; 2018–19 257 beds; 2021–22 586 beds; 2028–29 90 beds. It is impracticable to estimate the full financial effect
of these agreements but it is considered to be zero as the cash outflows should be reimbursed by the receipt of student residential 		
income.				
					

26 LEASE OBLIGATIONS

		

CONSOLIDATED

Amounts due under finance leases:			 2017

			

£m

2016
£m

Amounts payable					
Within one year			
1.9
1.9
In two to five years			
8.1
8.2
In more than five years			 49.8
54.8
				59.8
Less : finance charges allocated to future periods 			 (35.7)

64.9
(39.6)

				24.1

25.3

Annual rentals under operating lease commitments are as follows:			 2017
				£m

2016
£m

				 7.4

7.0

Leases expiring:					
In two to five years			
2.1
2.0
Over five years			
5.3
5.0

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
27 ADJUSTED EBITDA

		

CONSOLIDATED

			
2017
2016

			

£m

£m

Surplus before tax			 27.9

19.9

Gain on investments (note 21)			 (11.0)
Movement on USS provision (note 20)			 (4.8)
RBP pension service cost adjustment (note 20)			
7.6
Interest and other finance costs (note 9)			
7.1
Depreciation (note 12)			 19.1
Amortisation (note 13)			
0.1

(2.2)
3.4
4.4
8.5
18.2
0.1

Adjusted EBITDA			 46.0

52.3

28 PENSION ARRANGEMENTS
	The University participates in two main pension schemes, the Retirements Benefits Plan (1971) (RBP) and Universities
Superannuation Scheme Limited (USS).
The University also has a small number of staff in the National Health Service Scheme (NHSS), the total cost of which was £2.1m
(2016: £2.1m). This includes £0.3m (2016: £0.3m) outstanding contributions at the balance sheet date.
The total pension cost for the University was:

			
			

2017
£m

2016
£m

Contributions to USS		
Contributions to RBP 		
Contributions to NHSS		

35.2
6.5
2.1

31.1
6.2
2.1

Other pensions cost (note 7)		
Movement on USS provision		
RBP Pension service cost adjustment		

43.8
(4.8)
7.6

39.4
3.4
4.4

Pensions costs included in staff costs		

46.6

47.2

Pension finance interest (note 9)		

2.9

3.1

Pension cost including pension finance interest		
Actuarial (gain)/ loss relating to the RBP scheme		

49.5
(34.7)

50.3
12.7

Total pension cost		

14.8

63.0

RBP
RBP is an Exempt Approved Scheme under the Finance Act 1970 and provides benefits based on final pensionable salary; it is
established under irrevocable trusts and its assets are kept strictly separate from those of the University. It is a defined benefit
scheme. The total pension cost (excluding interest) to the University was £14.1m (2016: £10.6m). The contribution payable by the
University was 13.25% of pensionable salaries. There were no outstanding contributions at the balance sheet date.
		The expected employer contribution to the plan during the next accounting year is £6.7m.
A full actuarial valuation was carried out as at 1 August 2016 and updated to 31 July 2017 by a qualified independent actuary.
The major assumptions used by the actuary were:

			

31 July 2017

31 July 2016

Discount rate at year end		

2.60%

2.35%

Future salary increases		
RPI inflation		
CPI inflation
Life expectancy of current pensioners (from age 65)		
Life expectancy of future pensioners (from age 65)		

3.60%
3.10%
2.00%
23.9
25.1

3.10%
2.60%
1.50%
24.2
25.7
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28 PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
The assets in the scheme were:

				
Value at		
				
31 July
Asset
				
2017
Allocation
				
£m
%
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Value at		
31 July
Asset
2016
Allocation
£m
%

Equities			
Bonds			
Property			
Absolute return fund
		
Cash			

103.5
66.0
10.5
54.8
14.2

Fair value of assets			
Present value of obligations
		

249.0		
(312.3)		

Funded status			

(63.3)		

(88.4)

Net pension liability

(63.3)		

(88.4)		

			

42
26
4
22
6

84.9
70.7
9.9
47.6
14.0

38
31
4
21
6

227.1		
(315.5)

Analysis of the amount shown in the Balance Sheet		
2017
			£m

2016
£m

Present value of obligations		
Fair value of plan assets		

312.3
249.0

315.5
227.1

Funded status		

(63.3)

(88.4)

Analysis of the amount charged to operating surplus		
2017
			£m

2016
£m

Operating cost			
Current service cost		
12.5
9.4
Administration costs		
1.6
1.2
Financing cost			
Interest on net defined benefit liability		
2.0
2.3
Total operating charge		16.1

12.9

Amounts recognised in Other Comprehensive Income (OCI)		
2017
			£m

2016
£m

Asset gains arising during the year		
Liability gains / (losses) arising during the year

19.4
15.3

26.9
(39.6)

Actuarial gain / (loss) recognised in OCI		

34.7

(12.7)

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
28 PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
Change in defined benefit obligation		
2017
			£m
Opening defined benefit obligation		
Service cost 		
Interest cost		
Actuarial (gains) / losses 		
Contribution by members		
Benefits paid

2016
£m

315.5
12.5
7.3
(15.3)
0.3
(8.0)

266.4
9.4
9.4
39.6
0.3
(9.6)

Closing defined benefit obligation		312.3

315.5

Change in fair value of plan assets		
2017
			£m

2016
£m

Opening fair value of plan assets		
Gains on assets		
Interest income on plan assets		
Contributions by employer		
Contributions by employees		
Administration costs incurred		
Benefits paid		

227.1
19.4
5.3
6.5
0.3
(1.6)
(8.0)

197.4
26.9
7.1
6.2
0.3
(1.2)
(9.6)

Closing fair value of plan assets		249.0

227.1

USS
With effect from 1 October 2016, USS changed from a defined benefit only pension scheme to a hybrid pension scheme,
providing defined benefits (for all members), as well as defined contribution benefits. The assets of the scheme are held in a
separate trustee-administered fund.
Because of the mutual nature of the scheme, the scheme’s assets are not attributed to individual institutions and a scheme-wide
contribution rate is set. The University is therefore exposed to actuarial risks associated with other institutions and is unable to
identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable basis and, therefore, as
required by Section 28 of FRS 102 ‘Employee benefits’, accounts for the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. As
a result, the amount charged to the statement of comprehensive income represents the contributions payable to the scheme in
respect of the accounting period. Since the University has entered into an agreement (the ‘Recovery Plan’) that determines how
each employer within the scheme will fund the overall deficit, the University recognises a liability for the contributions payable that
arise from the agreement to the extent that they relate to the deficit and therefore an expense is recognised.
The total pension contribution cost for the University was £35.2m (2016: £31.1m). There were £3.2m (2016: £nil) outstanding
contributions at the balance sheet date. The contribution rate payable by the University was 18% (2016: 18% from 1 April 2016
and 16% prior to that) of pensionable salaries. The University has used the deficit modeller developed by the British Universities
Finance Directors’ Group (BUFDG) and USS to calculate the provision to be made for the future obligation to make deficit
recovery payments using a discount rate of 1.9% (2016: 1.8%). The liability is £45.0m (2016: £48.9m).
		The latest available triennial actuarial valuation of the scheme was at 31 March 2014 (the valuation date) which was carried out
using the projected unit method. The valuation as at 31 March 2017 is underway.
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28 PENSION ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
Since the University cannot identify its share of scheme assets and liabilities, the following disclosures reflect those relevant for the
scheme as a whole.
The 2014 valuation was the third valuation for USS under the scheme-specific funding regime introduced by the Pensions Act
2004, which requires schemes to adopt a statutory funding objective, which is to have sufficient and appropriate assets to cover
their technical provisions.
At the valuation date, the value of the assets of the scheme was £41.6 billion and the value of the scheme’s technical provisions
was £46.9 billion indicating a shortfall of £5.3 billion. The assets therefore were sufficient to cover 89% of the benefits which had
accrued to members after allowing for expected future increases in earnings.
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Defined benefit liability numbers for the scheme have been produced using the following assumptions:

			

		2017

2016

Discount rate		

2.57%

3.6%

Pensionable salary growth		

n/a

n/a

Price inflation (CPI)		

2.41%

2.2%

The main demographic assumption used relates to the mortality assumptions. Mortality in retirement is assumed to be in line with
the Continuous Mortality Investigation’s (CMI) S1NA tables as follows:
Male members’ mortality
Female members’ mortality

S1NA (‘light’) YoB tables – no age rating
S1NA (‘light’) YoB tables – rated down 1 year

Use of these mortality tables reasonably reflects the actual USS experience. To allow for further improvements in mortality rates the
CMI 2014 projections with a 1.5% long-term rate were also adopted. The current life expectancies on retirement at age 65 are:

		

2017

2016

Males currently aged 65 (years)		
Females currently aged 65 (years)		
Males currently aged 45 (years)		
Females currently aged 45 (years)		

24.4
26.6
26.5
29.0

24.3
26.5
26.4
28.8

Scheme summary		

2017

2016

Scheme assets		
Total scheme liabilities		
FRS 102 total scheme deficit		
FRS 102 total funding level		

£60.0bn
£77.5bn
£17.5bn
77%

£49.8bn
£58.3bn
£8.5bn
85%

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
29 RELATED PARTIES
Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition of its Council (being drawn from local public and private
sector organisations) it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations in which a member of Council may have
an interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a member of Council or Executive Board may have an interest are
conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the University’s financial regulations and normal procurement procedures.
Details of transactions, where material, are shown below.

(Income)/
Expenditure
2017
2016
£m
£m
Joint ventures, associates and spin-outs

Debtor/(Creditor)
balance
2017
2016
£m
£m

Nature of transaction/
relationship

INTO Newcastle University LLP

0.8

–

0.1

–

INTO Newcastle University London LLP

0.6

1.0

4.1

3.2

Start up loan.

–

0.2

–

0.1

Partner funding.

Newcastle Science Central LLP

0.4

0.6

5.4

0.5

Short-term working capital and
recharges for infrastructure works.

Newcastle Science Central Management LLP

1.8

–

1.8

–

Infrastructure works recharges.

Newcastle Science Company Limited

Demuris Limited

Net fees for student
accommodation and
other services.

–

0.1

0.6

0.2

Loan to spin out and trading.

Alcyomics Limited

(0.1)

(0.1)

0.1

0.1

Loan to spin out and trading.

INEX Microtechnology Limited

0.1

(0.1)

0.1

0.2

Loan to spin out and trading.

Newcastle University Students’ Union

1.6

1.5

–

–

Students’ Union subvention
and fees for other services.

The University of Newcastle upon Tyne
Development Trust

(2.1)

(1.9)

–

–

Endowment income distribution.

The Newcastle upon Tyne
Hospitals NHS Trust

(7.2)

(11.0)

1.3

2.9

International Centre for Life

2.8

2.7

–

–

University representation
on Board. Rentals payable.

Mrs H Mottram,
Northumbrian Water, Chief Executive

0.6

0.7

–

–

Water rates.

Professor C Day,
Medical Research Council member

(9.6)

(12.3)

0.1

–

Medical Research Council
research funding.

Russell Group board director

0.1

0.1

–

–

Russell Group subscription.

–

(0.2)

–

–

Science Without Borders.

Mr M Davison, non-executive director

0.1

0.2

–

–

City Hospitals Sunderland.

Professor D Burn, employee of Parkinson’s UK

(0.4)

–

0.1

–

Research funding.

Professor J Sanders, board member of
Leadership Foundation

0.1

–

–

–

Access to management
training courses.

(19.8)

(14.3)

0.3

0.1

Other organisations

Council and Executive Board members

Universities UK

Mr R Dale, EPSRC Audit
and Risk Assurance Committee

University representation on
Trust Board. NHS/academic
staff recharges.

EPSRC research funding.

Council members did not receive any remuneration in respect of their service to Council during the year. The amount paid to
members of Council in respect of expenses during the year amounted to £6,268 (2016: £6,288).
The University does not have any connected institutions, as defined by the Charities Act 2011, Schedule 3, paragraph 28.
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